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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25

NARRATIVE REPORT

INTRODUCTION TO FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL

The Forest of Dean district has a population of 87,000 (2021 Census) living in an area covering 526 square
kilometres. Over 100 square kilometres of this is woodland managed by the Forestry Commission. The
district has four main towns and many smaller, rural settlements where the majority (approximately 58%) of
the population live. For residents the "specialness" of the area is important arising from its cultural identity
and natural environment. The Forest of Dean is a great place to live, learn, do business and enjoy.

Political Structure in the 2024/25 Municipal year

Local councillors are elected by the community to decide how the Council should carry out its various
activities. They represent public interest as well as individuals living within the ward in which they have been
elected to serve for their term of office. They have regular contact with the general public through council
meetings, telephone calls and some councillors may hold surgeries. Surgeries provide an opportunity for any
ward resident to visit and talk to their councillor face to face.

The Council has 38 elected members representing 21 wards within the Forest of Dean district. There are
also 41 parish councils. Elections are held every four years, with the last elections held in May 2023.
Additional elections may arise from time to time if a councillor or parish councillor leaves office. There were
2 By-elections in May 2025 after resignations in March 2025.

The political make-up of the Council in the 2024/25 municipal year was:

Green Party 15 Councillors
Independent Group 7 Councillors
Labour Party 5 Councillors
Conservative Party 5 Councillors
Progressive Independents 4 Councillors
Liberal Democrats 2 Councillors
Total 38 Councillors

There was no overall political majority in 2024/25.

The Council has adopted the Leader and Cabinet model as its political management structure arising from
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. The Leader of the Council has
responsibility for the appointment of members of the Cabinet, the allocation of portfolios and the delegation
of Executive Functions. Cabinet Members are held to account by a system of scrutiny which is set out in the
council constitution.

The Council is responsible for setting the budget and policy framework within which decisions are made.
When major decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the Cabinet and Council’s
Forward Plans in so far as they can be anticipated. If these decisions are to be discussed with officers at a
meeting of the Cabinet, this will generally be open for the public to attend, except where personal or
confidential matters are being discussed.
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The Cabinet for 2024/25 was made up as follows:

Cabinet Member Portfolio

Adrian Birch (Green Party) Leader and Cabinet Member for Overall Strategy and Bulit
Environment.

Jackie Fraser (Green Party) Cabinet Member for Environment.

Andy Moore (Green Party) Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste.

Johnathan Lane (Green Party) Cabinet Member for Economy.

Chris McFarling (Green Party) Cabinet Member for Climate Emergency.

Sid Phelps (Green Party) Cabinet Member for Property and Projects

Jackie Dale (Green Party) Cabinet Member for Thriving Communities

The Chairman and Deputy Chairman for the Council for 2024/25 were:

Chairman Councillor Di Martin
Deputy Chairman Councillor Simon Phelps

Full details of all the committees, including chairs and membership can be found on the Council’'s website
on www.fdean.gov.uk.

Management Structure

On the 1t of November 2024, 68 employees transferred from Publica back into the Council and a Council
Senior Management Team was established.

The Council’'s Executive Leadership Team supports the work of the councillors and was led by the Chief
Executive Officer (Head of Paid Service), Mr. Nigel Brinn. Mr Nigel Brinn is also Electoral Registration and
Returning Officer. Mr. Andrew Knott ACMA held the statutory roles of Section 151 Officer and was the
Director for Finance and Resources. The statutory role of Monitoring Officer (MO) was held by Mrs. Sian
Roxborough until 30" June 2024. Mrs. Julie Jones was appointed interim MO from 15t July 2024 until the 19"
May 2025 agreed at the Full Council meeting held on 25" July 2024. Mrs. Helen Clarke was appointed MO
from 19" May 2025 at the 20" March 2025 Full Council meeting. A Director of Communities and Place was
added to the Executive Leadership Team in November 2024 and this was undertaken by Mr. Andy Barge.

Bankers
The Council’s banking services are provided by Lloyds Bank, 130 High Street, Cheltenham, GL50 IEW.

External Auditor
The appointed external auditor for 2024/25 was Bishop Fleming, 10 Temple Back, Bristol
BS1 6FL.
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COUNCIL VISION AND PRIORITIES

The Council agreed its Council Plan for 2024-2028 at its meeting on 14" December 2023. The vision and
priorities therein will drive budget decisions for the period. They state:

Fundamentally, this Council wants to support those in the district to enjoy an excellent quality of life. We
want to improve the Forest of Dean over the coming years, while also looking to the future and planning for
the needs of the Forest’s future generations.

The Council Plan sets out the following three key priorities:

o Thriving communities: We want to support local communities and help them grow so that we can
work together to respond to the challenges and opportunities posed by the climate and nature
emergencies.

o Decarbonisation and Nature Recovery: Protect and enhance the natural environment and be on
target to be carbon neutral by 2030.

¢ Sustainable Economy: To improve the Forest of Dean economy while encouraging business to be
environmentally sustainable and protecting the well-being of residents.

There are also four principles that underlay the plan:

e Social Value: Every decision and action we take will aim to improve the well-being of our residents.

e Public Engagement: We want to actively work with people who live in the Forest and encourage
them to attend public meetings, take part in surveys, and run community forums. We will aim for all
voices to be heard and form part of the council decision-making process.

e Value for Money: We will responsibly manage the councils' finances and make sure we use our
resources as efficiently as possible. At the same time we will aim for excellence, providing the best
service we can.

¢ Financial Sustainability: We will make sure the council is financially stable by exploring innovative
approaches to funding, grants, and partnerships without putting the councils' finances at risk.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

Performance management is a critical element of the Council’s management processes. The Council is
committed to a joined-up approach to performance management that involves members, Council and Publica
employees working together. This ensures that the Council continues to deliver on the issues that matter
most to local people and on improving the quality of services at all levels. Our performance management
system helps the Council to identify what does and does not work and the factors that support or hinder
economic, efficient, and effective service delivery.

Overall, the Council performed well during 2024/25. The Council continues to get recognition for our good
performance, sound financial management and value for money. The Council’s non-financial and financial
performance is regularly monitored and reported to Cabinet and the Strategic Overview and Scrutiny
Committee on a quarterly basis. The range of indicators measured and reported includes waste collection,
planning appeals, customer service, leisure performance, housing benefit claims and performance and
customer complaints. Details of these reports for 2024/25 can be found on the Council’'s website, under
‘Councillors & Meetings’ in the quarterly performance reports reported to the Cabinet.
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DEVELOPMENTS IN SERVICE DELIVERY

The Council is a multifunctional organisation, which works closely with other parts of the public service and
the voluntary and community sector, making objective, transparent, evidence-based decisions about how
services should be provided and by whom.

Publica Group (Support) Limited

The Council has entered several shared service and partnership arrangements with other organisations, to
ensure the delivery of quality services in an efficient, cost-effective manner, including Publica Group
(Support) Limited in 2017/18; providing front line services shared with Cotswold District Council and West
Oxfordshire District Council. The Council’s Information and Communications Technology (ICT) and
Procurement support is also shared with Cheltenham Borough Council, in addition to the above Councils,
using a common platform ‘Business World’ Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system, enabling service
resilience within the Councils. Publica Group (Support) Limited is wholly owned by the four Councils.

A key principle of the partnership is that each Council has retained its own identity, with its own elected
members and continues to make decisions taking account of the needs of its local community. Staff continue
to work in each location. Some members of staff provide a service predominantly to one Council; others
provide a service for more than one Council.

A review of Publica Group (Support) Limited was commissioned by the four partner Councils to review the
effectiveness of Publica and whether certain services would be better placed back with the Councils. A
decision was made by each Council to bring back services into the Council and this programme began in
early 2024. On the 15t of November 2024, 68 employees were transferred from Publica Group (Support)
Limited back to the Forest of Dean District Council. This included services that were delivered directly for
individual Councils such as Democratic Services, Election Services, Planning, Building Control and some
support services such as financial management. This included the transfer of the deputy Monitoring Officer
and deputy S151 Officer back into direct employment by the Council. A 2" phase has been agreed by all
Councils, and this will conclude with the transfer of staff back to the Council on 1%t of July 2025. The 2™
phase is smaller and includes services such as Property and Estates, Project management and HR Business
Partners.

The Managing Director of Publica Group (Support) Limited is Mr Frank Wilson. Each partner Council has a
Head of Paid Service who is responsible for commissioning the partner Councils’ services along with their
other statutory officers (Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer).

Ubico Limited

Ubico Limited was originally formed in 2012 by its shareholders, Cheltenham Borough Council and Cotswold
District Council. The company is responsible for delivering the shareholders’ Environmental services within
their respective council boundaries. The Forest of Dean District Council, Tewkesbury Borough Council and
West Oxfordshire District Council joined the partnership on 15t April 2015. Stroud District Council and
Gloucestershire County Council joined in 2016. Gloucester City Council joined in November 2021 and each
of the eight authorities are now equal shareholders. The Council made the decision during 2022/23 to move
its waste collection service to Ubico Limited following the expiry of the Biffa Waste Services Ltd contract in
July 2024.

South West Audit Partnership (SWAP)

The Council has a contract with South West Audit Partnership (SWAP) for the provision of its internal audit
service. All partner Councils of Publica Group (Support) Limited use this company, ensuring a consistent
independent approach to the audit and governance of our services. More details of SWAP are provided in
the Related Parties note 15, page 48.
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Affordable Housing Scheme Developments

2024/25 saw the Forest of Dean District council enable the delivery of 30 new affordable homes across the
district.

Out of the 30 homes provided, 22 of them (73%) were affordable housing for rent, while the remaining 8
(27%) were provided as shared ownership homes, enabling households to take their first step onto the
housing ladder.

The homes were provided across the following areas in the district, Berry Hill, Lydney, Huntley and
Newent. 4 homes were provided in a rural parish, helping enable households to live and remain in their
local communities. Sizes of the homes ranged from one-bedroom flats through to a larger 5-bedroom
house.

The new affordable homes all achieved an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating of B. The
national average for existing homes is EPC D. The benefits of having a property with a good EPC rating is
that it will be more comfortable to live in and have lower energy bills, as well as producing less carbon
dioxide when compared to an average energy performance rated property (the average rating for homes in
the UK is band D*).

Levelling Up and other Major Projects

Announced in the UK Budget in March 2021, the Levelling Up Fund (LUF) will invest in infrastructure that
improves everyday life across the UK. Nationally, the £4.8 billion fund is intended to support regeneration
and town centre investment, local transport projects, and cultural and heritage assets. Projects should be
aligned to and support the Government’s Net Zero goals demonstrating low or zero carbon best practice.
The Levelling Up Fund is a competitive process open to all UK local authorities. Forest of Dean District is
identified as a priority place in terms of the need for LUF capital infrastructure support.

In June 2021, the District Council submitted a multiple project bid containing three interrelated projects
seeking to secure £20m capital grant support. Forest of Dean District Council worked in partnership with
Hartpury University and Hartpury College and Cinderford Town Council to prepare the successful bid. In
October 2021, it was confirmed that the Forest of Dean District had been successful in its bid to the
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC).

The bid aims to:

e Build connections across the Forest, helping to join our communities.

e Help our local entrepreneurs and home grown talent find a home in the Forest, growing our
economy and providing jobs by developing new, suitable space for businesses

e Provide more and better leisure opportunities, helping people stay active and healthy through new
leisure facilities and active travel options.

o Provide new further and higher education opportunities so our young people have more choice to
get a good education.

From the outset, all three projects are being designed with carbon reduction, renewable energy and electric
vehicle/bike charging points in mind to help to tackle the climate emergency.

There are three key elements to the bid:

Investment at Five Acres

The £9m proposal for the Five Acres site will create a new leisure and community hub bringing a derelict site
back into use providing modern leisure, community and business facilities for the area, a new 4-court sports
hall and an artificial all weather sports pitch. The leisure and community hub will house a satellite site for
Hartpury University and Hartpury College, bringing specialist education opportunities for young people to the
Forest.

FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL 6



STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25

The wider site will be developed in partnership with West Dean Parish Council and will also include modern
workspaces for local businesses and help promote active travel by connecting existing walking and cycling
routes.

Demoilition of the former College and Leisure Centre at Five Acres has taken place with only the building to
be renovated still standing. A design and build contractor have been appointed through the Southern
Construction Framework (SCF). Work has continued throughout 2024/2025 to ensure that an affordable
scheme can be delivered, and a new design is currently being worked on in order to deliver this much needed
Community Asset. Council agreed the new funding and outcomes in March 2025.

University, Careers and Enterprise Learning Centre at Hartpury Campus

The Flagship University Innovation, Careers and Enterprise Learning Centre, will use £10m to build on the
current Hartpury University and Hartpury College site. It will support growth in student numbers, providing
new opportunities to over 16’s in the Forest. The Centre will focus on encouraging and supporting local young
people to stay in education or start their own business in the area.

It will also deliver a new Environmental Laboratory, aiming to support new companies focussed on
environmental technology based in the Forest of Dean.

The university has utilised all the levelling up grant funding provided by the Council, however to complete
the new learning centre a further £1.5m has to be spent by the university.

Regeneration in Cinderford Town Centre

In Cinderford town centre, regenerating 3 key buildings and bringing them back into use to provide modern
co-working spaces for start-up businesses and new community facilities, arts and events space has been
completed with the final project due to be completed during 2025/26.

The former HSBC bank, Rheola House and the Methodist Church, which is a Listed Building has been
refurbished to provide great spaces for residents to meet, work and socialise, boosting town centre footfall.
They also continue to generate more match funding in order to continue the great work that they have started.

Overall, the Council has claimed approximately 65% of the total Levelling Up funding since the bid was
approved in October 2021.

Cinderford Northern Quarter
The Authority continues to fulfil its obligations under the S106 agreement around ecological monitoring on
the site whilst the development projects are on hold.

United Kingdom Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) Year 3 2024/25
Total spend during 2024/25 on this project was:

Revenue — £602,718

Capital — £222,728

A total of 18 projects were included in this 3-year programme with the following being the main schemes:
e Public Conveniences
e Skills needs
o Active Travel

The Council has been able to spend the full allocation of the UKSPF funding from Central Government over
the last 3 years.
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Rural England Prosperity Fund (REPF) Year 3 2024/25
Total spend during 2024/25 on this project was:
Capital - £578,547

This included the following main projects:
e Business improvement grants
¢ Climate improvement grants for community building

The Council has been able to spend the full allocation of the UKSPF funding from Central Government over
the last 3 years.

Forest Economic Partnership (FEP)

In October 2019, FEP was officially registered as a Community Interest Company (CIC). A new FEP Board
was created to steer the objectives and actions of this new apolitical, non-for-profit organisation. As a CIC,
FEP’s legal entity is defined by Articles of Association.

The Board currently seats 10 directors, including Clir Lane, the Economy portfolio holder who holds the
position of Vice Chair. The CIC Board has capacity to increase to 12 directors.

The Stakeholder Group remains an open forum and over the last year the closed sub-groups have been
modified to streamline activity. Digital communications include a monthly e-bulletin and social media
channels to promote FEP and stakeholder partner activity.

FEP project activity and meetings continued during 2024-25.

Council’s Leisure Services

The management and operation of the Council’s leisure centres have been contracted to Freedom Leisure
since 2015/16 to secure leisure provision across the district. Freedom Leisure is a not-for-profit trust that has
an excellent track record of delivering first class leisure services and facilities across the UK.

CHALLENGES

Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) and Devolution

Following the publishing of the English Devolution White Paper on the 16" December 2024, the Forest of
Dean District Council has been working with all Councils around Gloucestershire to achieve the best
solution for residents due to changes from LGR and devolution. In March 2025, the Council approved a
basis for this work which included what the Council would like to see from these changes. A business case
and options for LGR and devolution are due to be submitted to the Government in November 2025. The
outcome of this will determine the direction of the Council. It is expected that the Forest of Dean District
Council will be amalgamated with other Councils across Gloucestershire in 2028.

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

The Council’'s Medium Term Financial Forecast is regularly reviewed, and as part of the February 2025
budget report to Council highlighted an anticipated shortfall of around £4.6m for the 5-year period of the
MTFS starting in 2024/25. Work has started early to address this shortfall. However, the Council has a good
degree of financial strength borne out by the £1.0m provision held in the future budget deficit reserve.

Local Government Finance Reforms

There have been consistent delays in the Local Government Finance Reforms, whether that is the Fair
Funding Review, Business Rates reset or Business Rate Reforms. Since the newly elected Labour
Government took control there have been announcements that these changes would happen in 2025/2026
for multi-year settlements from 2026/2027 onwards. Consultation on the Fair Funding Review 2.0 started on
the 20" of June 2025 which shows that these reforms will happen during 2025/2026 and therefore there is
likely to be an impact on the Council. However, the impact is not known and cannot be quantified at this
moment in time.
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The impacts of the cost-of-living crisis will be felt within this Council for years to come with increased costs
for homelessness, rough sleepers and leisure facilities. Along with lost income in car parking, building control
and other income streams into 2025/2026 and beyond. There will also be additional energy and fuel costs
due to the cost-of-living crisis and high oil prices due to the war in Ukraine and unrest in Middle East. The
Council has been able to offset some of these additional costs by installing solar panels and reducing the
energy usage in the council offices.

Budget Strategy

There are several local challenges facing the Council including Local Government Reorganisation,
Devolution, funding reforms, closing the funding gap, delivery of the Councils ambitious Council Plan and
continuous service improvement. The Council is innovative and has put in place extensive plans to ensure
that excellent services are delivered to its residents at an affordable cost. These plans have been enhanced
by securing Levelling Up Capital funds for work on regeneration aspirations around the district. These have
been further enhanced by using the UK Shared Prosperity funding and the Rural England Prosperity funding
to help to enable local community groups to be able to deliver more community services and reduce the
costs that they incur going forward such as introducing low-cost energy solutions with community halls and
such buildings.

Workforce

Due to the current uncertainty for Local Government with LGR, there are current issues across the sector
with recruitment and retention. So far, the Forest of Dean District Council have not seen this impact
materialise however we are mindful of the potential to lose high quality, highly experienced staff.

The council has an agile working strategy and policy for council workers and Publica employees, which
ensures that a mixture of home working and office working is possible if it works for both the Council and
employee. This was introduced following the pandemic and the success of home working for both the Council
and staff.

We have noticed that residents have been using online and telephone facilities more in order to complete
business with the Council and there has been no noticeable reduction in services provided. These services
have been enhanced throughout 2024/25 and this work will continue in 2025/26 and beyond to ensure that
services are available to all, at times that work for everyone. This is being developed in all areas of the
Council to ensure that we can to make sure that residents have the best services that can be offered to them.

Major Risks

There is still uncertainty around future funding for the Council and how the gap in the MTFS will be filled
which creates additional major risks. By ensuring these are managed effectively and proactively, they are
partly ameliorated. The major risks are:

e Uncertainty on the future of Local Government

¢ Uncertainty on future government settlements

¢ Significant increase in expenditure from increased service demand and financial support requests
from contractors and partners due to high costs of energy for all

e Business failures resulting in loss of business rates income.

e Failure to deliver innovative transformational projects that deliver significant savings in the medium
term.

o Failure to deliver the Levelling Up projects in the district within the agreed time frames.

Because of the actions taken it is expected the risks listed are lessened but cannot be ruled out completely.
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INTRODUCTION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The purpose of this narrative report is to provide electors, local taxpayers, members of the Council and other
interested parties with an easy to understand guide to the most significant matters reported in the accounts.
It provides an explanation in overall terms of the Council’s financial position and assists in the interpretation
of the accounting statements. The statements should inform readers of the cost of services provided by the
Council in the year 2024/25 and the Council’s assets and liabilities at the year-end.

The Accounts for the year ending 315 March 2025 have been prepared and published in accordance with
the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2024/25 (the Code), published by
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). This incorporates International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs), so that the accounts are compliant with these standards. The following

statements are included:

Statement of Responsibilities for
the Statement of Accounts

Statement of Accounting Policies
(Note 1 to the notes to the accounts)

Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement and the
Expenditure and Funding Analysis

Balance Sheet

Movement in Reserves Statement

Cash Flow Statement

Collection Fund

Annual Governance Statement

Sets out the respective responsibilities of the Council and the Section
151 Officer for the accounts.

This explains the basis for recognition, measurement and disclosure of
transactions and other events in the accounts. This includes changes in
policy, the basis of charges to revenue and the calculation of items in the
Balance Sheet.

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the cost
in the year of providing services, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding Analysis (included
in the note on segmental reporting) reconciles this to the amount
chargeable to General Fund reserves in the year.

This summarises the overall financial position of the Council at the end
of the financial year, showing its assets, liabilities and reserves.

This details the movement during the year in the Council’s reserves,
analysed into usable reserves (i.e., those that can be used to fund
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and unusable reserves.

This summarises the inflows and outflows of cash arising from
transactions with third parties for revenue and capital purposes.

Reflects the statutory requirement to maintain a separate Collection
Fund which shows the transactions in relation to non-domestic business
rates and council tax, indicating how the amounts collected are
distributed to the Government, Gloucestershire County Council,
Gloucestershire Police and Crime Commissioner and Forest of Dean
District Council.

This sets out how the Council is meeting its obligations and the
improvements it intends to make to its systems of internal control
and corporate governance arrangements.

These accounts are supported by notes to the accounts, which include a glossary of terms to provide readers

with further information.
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THE COUNCIL’S FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE IN THE YEAR AND ITS POSITION AT
THE YEAR END

General Fund Revenue Budget

During 2024/25, the Council continued with the process of formal monitoring of budgets, reporting to cabinet
on a quarterly basis. This has assisted in strengthening the sound management of the Council’s finances
and provides a mechanism to ensure that any budgetary problems are identified and rectified as soon as
possible during the year. This has resulted in Council services being delivered within the revised budget,
with an overall saving compared to budget of £6. This underspend has been used to bolster the Council’s
working balance.

REVENUE OUTTURN 2024/25 Original Current (Under) /
Budget Budget Outturn  Overspend
2024/25 2024/25 2024/25 2024/25
DIRECTORATES £ £ £ £
Strategy 3,641,030 4,050,590 3,967,561 (83,029)
Built Environment 776,370 720,740 1,009,576 288,836
Finance 7,090,090 6,917,470 7,085,652 168,182
Nature Emergency 354,800 355,830 355,924 94
Sustainable Economy 350,300 402,310 335,873 (66,437)
Climate Emergency 450,110 427,420 359,113 (68,307)
Local Plan 736,750 950,900 958,069 7,169
Thriving Communities 973,990 1,253,470 1,072,932  (180,538)
NET EXPENDITURE ON SERVICES 14,373,440 15,078,730 15,144,700 65,970
Capital Charges (308,900) (364,850) 63,824 428,674
Interest and Investment Income and Expenditure (1,213,460) (1,671,710) (1,743,707) (71,997)
Transfers to / (from) earmarked reserves (246,000) (437,090) (581,613) (144,523)
NET EXPENDITURE TO BE FINANCED 12,605,080 12,605,080 12,883,204 278,124
FINANCED BY:
Revenue Support Grant (190,740) (190,740) (190,738) 2
New Homes Bonus (556,190) (556,190) (556,189) 1
Section 31 National Non-Domestic Rates Grant (3,077,040) (3,077,040) (2,993,924) 83,116
Share of Non-Domestic Rates (1,625,070) (1,625,070) (1,978,214) (353,144)
Council Tax Collection Fund Contribution (180,600) (180,600) (180,600) -
Council Tax less levies (6,358,780) (6,358,780) (6,358,777) 3
Other Specific Government Grants (616,660) (616,660) (624,768) (8,108)
Total Funding (12,605,080) (12,605,080) (12,883,210) (278,130)
Surplus transferred to Working Balance - - 6) (6)

The transfer to the general fund balance is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement on page 19. The
Expenditure and Funding Analysis on page 53 links the increase in the general fund balance, together with
the increase in earmarked reserves, with the surplus shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, showing the adjustments made to ensure the statement complies with generally accepted
accounting practice.
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Where the money came from

The following chart provides an analysis of our main sources of income this year. The Government provides
income in the form of general and specific grants and determines the amount of business rates the Council
receives through pooling arrangements. Since the new local government resource regime announced as
part of the 2013/14 Local Government Finance settlement, more emphasis is now put on raising income from
business rates and council tax locally, as the amount of central government revenue support grant received
is phased out.

Interest & Investment

Income \
1%
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How the money was spent

The Council provides a wide range of services for the district both directly and indirectly through partnership
working. The activities vary widely and include provision for the collection of refuse and recycling, delivery of
leisure services, car parking, cemeteries, environmental health and many other services. These are
summarised at service level in the table below. Further details will be reported to Cabinet as part of the
Financial Outturn 2024/25 report on 10" July 2025 and will be available to view on the Council’'s website
https://www.fdean.gov.uk .

Senice Net
(Income)/Expenditure £
Cemeteries 101,302
Climate Change 78,632
Communities 569,560
Corporate 3,285,588
Council Tax and NNDR Collection 101,591
Election Senices 196,254
Environmental Senices 660,543
Housing Senices 953,004
Land Charges (68,517)
Members 540,715
Offices and Land 709,149
Planning and Regeneration 1,263,875
Support Senices 3,068,870
Waste and Recycling Senvices 3,684,134
Total Senice Expenditure 15,144,700

Capital Expenditure

In 2024/25, the Council spent £4.451 million on capital projects and grants, across the general fund capital
programme. Key expenditure on capital schemes include: -

£000
- Waste Vehicles 1,389
- Disabled Facility Grants 862
- Shared Prosperity and Rural England Prosperity 803
- Levelling Up including Five Acres 660
- Social Housing Schemes 188
- 8106 Schemes 143
-ICT 87
- Council Chamber Improvements 82

The Council plans to continue to fund capital from a range of sources including revenue reserves, developer
and government contributions and capital receipts. The main spend in 2024/25 was on waste vehicle
purchases, Levelling Up projects and other Improvements. The Council has also invested in town centre
locations in order to help to regenerate local towns. The Council will make use of prudential borrowing to
support the Council’'s major capital schemes where it is both prudent and affordable.
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Treasury Management (Investments and Borrowing)

The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the Public Services governs treasury management
in Local Government. This Council has adopted the Code and complies with its requirements, one of which
is the receipt by the Council of an annual review at the financial year-end. The Council manages the cash
flow arising from the provision of all Council services, using the money market to invest daily cash surpluses
and borrow to fund cash shortfalls.

The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) held Bank Rate at 4.5% at its March 2025 meeting,
having reduced it in February. This follows earlier 0.25% cuts in November and August 2024 from the 5.25%
peak. The PWLB certainty rate for 10-year maturity loans was 4.80% at the beginning of the period and
5.42% at the end. This has not affected this Council in 2024/25 but may do in future if there is a need to
borrow for capital programmes to be delivered. The higher interest rates have had a positive impact on the
Councils investments meaning that returns have increased. Interest rates are expected to continue reducing
to a low of 3.75% in the 3™ quarter of 2025/26. This should continue to have a positive impact on the Council’s
investments during 2025/26.

During the year, the Council earned £1,005,188 investment income, £54,188 more than the revised budget.
The majority of this increase was due to the sustained higher interest rates throughout 2024/25 as the Bank
of England made fewer interest rates cuts as inflation slowly reduced.

Pension Liability

The Council is required to account for retirement benefits when they are committed, even if the payment is
many years in the future, in accordance with International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19). The pension
liability or asset shown in the accounts represents the Council's pension commitment to increase
contributions to make up any shortfall in attributable net assets, or its ability to benefit (via reduced future
employer contributions) from a surplus in the pension scheme.

The Council’s net asset according to the actuarial assessment at 315 March 2025 was £22.118m, an increase
of £38.818m over the liability figure for 315t March 2024 of £16.7m. The financial and demographic
assumptions at 315t March 2025 were much more favourable than they were at 315t March 2024, with a
positive impact on the pension fund. Therefore, the Council requested an Asset Ceiling Calculation to be
completed which showed that an additional £23.725m asset was due for the pension fund due to
amendments to expected net asset once agreed past service contributions are paid less the economic benefit
available as a reduction in future contributions. Therefore, the Council are showing an overall pension liability
of £1.607m.

The maijority of staff transferred to Publica Group (Support) Limited on 1t November 2017 however 68
members transferred back to the Council on the 1%t of November 2024. Full details of the accounting
treatment and impact on the Council’s pension liability are included in the Pensions note 34, page 76.

Reserves, Balances and Provisions

At the year-end usable reserves stood at £20.616m, a decrease of £1.021m during the year. This is due to
changes in working balance, capital receipts and capital grants received, and general movements in
earmarked reserves. Of the usable reserves at the year-end, non-earmarked General Reserves or
‘Balances’ were £1.014m.

At the year-end, provisions (other than those held to cover possible bad or doubtful debts) were £0.401m,
an increase of £0.160m during the year.
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Changes in accounting policies and estimates

The Council has reviewed its accounting policies during the year and revised them in accordance with the
2024/25 Code of Practice in Local Authority Accounting. The policies are detailed in note 1 to the accounts
(pages 21 to 37) and the changes in accounting policies are detailed in note 2 on page 38.

FURTHER INFORMATION

Further information about the accounts is available from Financial Services, Forest of Dean District Council,
High Street, Coleford. This is part of the Council’s policy of providing full information about the Council’s
affairs. In addition, interested members of the public have a statutory right to inspect the accounts during a
‘period for the exercise of public rights’ before the audit is completed. The accounts are available for
inspection by appointment between 1%t July 2025 and 11" August 2025 at the Council Offices, and local
government electors for the area may exercise their rights to question the auditor about or make objections
to the accounts for the year ended 315t March 2025, in writing, during this period.

Andrew Knott ACMA,
Chief Finance (S151) Officer
1st December 2025
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THE STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

THE COUNCIL'S RESPONSIBILITIES:

The Council is required to:

. make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its
officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this Council, that officer is the
Chief Finance Officer, who also undertakes the role of the Section 151 Officer.

° manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its assets.

° approve the Statement of Accounts.

THE CHIEF FINANCE (SECTION 151) OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES:

The Chief Finance (Section 151) Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Council’s Statement of
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).

In preparing the Statement of Accounts, the Chief Finance (Section 151) Officer has:

o selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently.
o made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent.
J complied with the local authority Code.

The Chief Finance (Section 151) Officer has also:

o kept proper accounting records which were up to date.

o taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
CERTIFICATE OF CHIEF FINANCE (SECTION 151) OFFICER

| certify that the Statement of Accounts on pages 17 to 20 gives a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Council at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 315t March 2025.

ANDREW KNOTT ACMA, DATE: 1st December 2025
Chief Finance (S151) Officer
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

This statement shows the cost in the year of providing services, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover
expenditure in accordance with regulations; and this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation
position is shown in both the Expenditure & Funding Analysis and in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

2023/24 Restated* 2024/25
Gross Gross Net Gross Gross Net
Expenditure Income Expenditure Expenditure Income Expenditure
£000 £000 £000 Continuing Operations £000 £000 £000
3,283 (504) 2,779  Strategy 4,316 (925) 3,391
17,009 (16,333) 676  Built Environment 17,522 (16,513) 1,009
9,530 (2,752) 6,778 Finance 10,080 (3,162) 6,918
379 177) 202 Nature Emergency 540 (283) 257
6,165 (311) 5,854  Sustainable Economy 1,877 (572) 1,305,
386 (289) 97 Climate Emergency 712 (477) 235
2,137 (1,112) 1,025 Local Plan 2,022 (1,194) 828
2,234 (1,868) 366  Thriving Communities 2,371 (1,544) 827
41,123 (23,346) 17,777  Cost of Services 39,440 (24,670) 14,770
3,047 (128) 2,919 Other operating expenditure (note 9) 3,386 (406) 2,980
870 (1,992) (1,122)  Financing and Investment (income) and expenditure (note 10) 1,127 (2,474) (1,347)
5,162 (28,316) (23,154)  Taxation and non-specific grant (income) and expenditure (note 11) 4,729 (23,574) (18,845)
50,202 (53,782) (3,580) (Surplus) or Deficit on the provision of services 48,682 (51,124) (2,442)
(1,438)  Surplus on revaluation of non-current assets (note 33) (503)
178  Deficit on revaluation of non-current assets (note 33) 31
Deficit on revaluation of equity instruments designated at fair value through
(26) Other Comprehensive Income (note 33) 585
7,746  Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability /(asset) (note 34) (15,739)
6,460 Other Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure (15,626)
2,880 Total Comprehensive (Income) and Expenditure (18,068)
* Restated due to a change in service analysis of continuing operations
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BALANCE SHEET

This statement shows the value as at the balance sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the
Council. The net assets of the Council (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the
Council. Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category is usable reserves i.e., those reserves
that the Council may use to provide services, these being subject to the need to maintain a prudent level and
constrained by statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve may only be used
to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).

The second category of reserves comprises those that the Council is not able to use to provide services.
This includes those that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where
amounts only become available to provide services if the assets are sold, and those that hold timing
differences which are shown in the Movements in Reserves Statement Line ‘Adjustments between
accounting basis and funding basis under the regulations’.

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH

31 March 2024 Note 31 March 2025
£000 £000
12,352 Property, Plant & Equipment 20 13,174
= Right of Use Assets 23 581
10,665 Investment Property 22 11,070
7 Intangible Assets 24 4
7,242 Long Term Investments 25 6,652
279 Long Term Debtors 27 1,533
30,545 Long Term Assets 33,014
3,092 Short Term Investments 25 3,072
76 Inventories 26 91
6,397 Short term Debtors 27 6,944
6,510 Cash and Cash Equivalents 28 6,112
16,075 Current Assets 16,219
(6,026) Short Term Creditors 29 (4,665)
(28) Grants Receipts in Advance - Capital 17 (275)
(241) Provisions 30 (401)
(6,295) Current Liabilities (5,341)
(16,700) Other Long Term Liabilities 34 (2,199)
(16,700) Long Term Liabilities (2,199)
23,625 Net Assets 41,693
21,637 Usable Reserves 20,616
1,988 Unusable Reserves 33 21,077
23,625 Total Reserves 41,693
Signed:
Andrew Knott ACMA, Councillor Harry Ives,
Chief Finance (S151) Officer Chairman of Audit Committee

18t December 2025
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT

This statement shows the movement in the year of the different reserves held by the Council, analysed into
‘usable reserves’ (i.e., those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and unusable

reserves.

The statement shows how the movements in year of the Council’s reserves are broken down between gains
and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments
required to return the amounts chargeable to council tax for the year. The net increase or decrease line shows
the statutory general fund balance movement in the year following those adjustments.

General Earmarked Total Capital Capital Total Unusable Total
Fund General Fund General Receipts Grants Usable Reserves Reserves
Balance Reserves Fund Reserve Unapplied Reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 31 March 2023 970 11,620 12,590 6,208 3,448 22,246 4,259 26,505
Movement in Reserves during 2023/24
Total Comprehensive Income and (Expenditure) 3,580 - 3,580 - - 3,580 (6,460) (2,880)
Adjustments between accounting basis and funding
basis under regulations (Note 5) (2,080) - (2,080) (2,226) 117 (4,189) 4,189
Transfers to/from earmarked reserves (Note 31) (1,456) 1,456 - -
Increase / (decrease) in 2023/24 44 1,456 1,500 (2,226) 117 (609) (2,271) (2,880)
Balance at 31 March 2024 1,014 13,076 14,090 3,982 3,565 21,637 1,988 23,625
Movement in Reserves during 2024/25
Total Comprehensive Income and (Expenditure) 2,442 - 2,442 - - 2,442 15,626 18,068
Adjustments between accounting basis and funding
basis under regulations (Note 5) (3,023) - (3,023) (826) 386 (3,463) 3,463
Transfers to/from earmarked reserves (Note 31) 582 (582) -
Increase / (decrease) in 2024/25 1 (582) (581) (826) 386 (1,021) 19,089 18,068
Balance at 31 March 2025 1,015 12,494 13,509 3,156 3,951 20,616 21,077 41,693
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council during the reporting
period. The statement shows how the Council generates and uses cash by classifying cash flows as operating,
investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key
indicator of the extent to which operations of the Council are funded by way of taxation and grant income or
from the recipients of services provided by the Council. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash
flows have been made for resources, which are intended to contribute to the Council’s future service delivery.
Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of
capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council.

2023/24 2024/25
£000 £000
(3,580) Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services (2,442)

Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for
4,581 non-cash movements (note 35) 1,963

Adjust for items in the net surplus or deficit on the provision

128  of services that are investing or financing activities (note 35) 371

1,129 Cash (inflows) generated from operating activities W

1,697 Investing activities (note 36) 1,539

1,956 Financing activities (note 37) (1,033)

4,782 Net (increase)/ decrease in cash and cash equivalents W
(11,292) Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year (6,510)

. (6,510) (6,510) Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (note 28) —§6,112)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1

1.2

GENERAL PRINCIPLES

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the financial year and its
position at the end of the financial year. The Council is required to prepare an annual Statement of
Accounts by the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which require the accounts to be
prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2024/25 (The
Code), supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), International Accounting
Standards (IASs) and statutory guidance.

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost,
modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments.

The accounting policies of the Council have as far as possible been developed to ensure that the
accounts are understandable, relevant, free from material error or misstatement, reliable and
comparable.

ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS

Except where specified in the Code, or in specific legislative requirements, it is the Council’s
responsibility to select and regularly review its accounting policies, as appropriate.

These accounts are prepared in accordance with a number of fundamental accounting principles:

Relevance
Reliability
Comparability
Materiality

Additionally, three further concepts play a pervasive role in the selection and application of accounting
policies:

Accruals of Income and Expenditure

The financial statements, other than the cash flow statement, are prepared on an accrual’s basis, i.e.,
transactions are reflected in the accounts in the year in which the activity to which they relate takes
place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular:

o Fees, charges and rents due from customers are accounted for as income at the date the
Council provides the relevant goods or services, in accordance with the performance
obligations in the contract and IFRS15 Revenue Contracts with Customers.

e Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed — where there is a gap
between the date supplies are received and their consumption; they are carried as
Inventories on the Balance Sheet.

e Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are
made.

¢ Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis
of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows
fixed or determined by the contract.

e Where income and expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where it
is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge
made to revenue for the income that might not be collected.

e All income and expenditure is credited and charged to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement, unless it comprises capital receipts or capital expenditure.
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1.3

Going Concern

The accounts are prepared on the assumption that the Council will continue its operations for the
foreseeable future. This means in particular that the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement and Balance Sheet assume no intention to significantly curtail the scale of operations.

Primacy of legislative requirements

The Council derives its powers from statute and its financial and accounting framework is closely
controlled by primary and secondary legislation. Where legislative requirements and accounting
principles conflict, legislative requirements take precedence.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Benefits Payable during Employment

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within twelve months of the year-end. They
include such benefits as salaries and wages, paid annual leave and paid sick leave for current
employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render
service to the Council. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave,
e.g., time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-end, which employees can
carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the salary rates applicable in the
following accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is
charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then reversed out through the
Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial
year in which the holiday absence occurs.

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate an
officer's employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary
redundancy. They are charged on an accruals basis to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement when the Council can no longer withdraw any offer of benefits.

Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the
general fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund or
pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.
Therefore, in the Movement in Reserves Statement appropriations are required to and from the
pensions reserve to remove the notional charges and credits for pension enhancement termination
benefits and replace them with the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such
amounts payable but unpaid at the year end.

Post-Employment Benefits

Employees of the Council and Publica Group (Support) Limited are members of the Local
Government Pension Scheme, administered by Gloucestershire County Council. The Council’s
liabilities under the Local Government Pension Scheme cover all staff that were members of the
scheme at the date of transfer to Publica (15t November 2017), as well as the remaining staff still
employed by the Council. The actuarial valuation as at 31t March 2024 has been prepared on this
basis.
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The scheme provides defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as
employees working for the Council and Publica, and is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme.

¢ The liabilities of the Gloucestershire pension scheme attributable to the Council and ex Council
staff transferred to Publica on 1t November 2017 and where relevant transferring back are
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method — i.e. an
assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to
date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates etc.,
and projections of earnings for current employees.

o Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on the
indicative rate of return on the adoption of the AA-rated corporate bond basis.

e The assets of the Gloucestershire pension fund attributable to the Council are included in the
balance sheet at their fair value on the following basis:
e quoted securities — current bid value

unquoted securities — professional estimate of fair value
unitised securities — current bid price
Property — market value.

e The change in the net pension liability is analysed into seven components:

Current service cost: the increase in liabilities as a result of the additional year of service
earned - allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services
for which the employees worked.

Past service cost: the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect
relates to years of service earned in earlier years - charged to the Surplus or Deficit in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs.
Interest cost on defined obligation: the expected increase in the present value of liabilities
during the year as they move one year closer to being paid - charged to the Financing and
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.

Interest income on plan assets: the annual investment return on the fund assets attributable
to the Council, based on an average of the expected long-term return — credited to the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.

Gains/losses on settlements: the result of actions to relieve the Council of liabilities or events
that reduce the expected future service or accrual of benefits of employees — charged to the
Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non
Distributed Costs.

Measurement of the net defined benefit liability: changes in the net pension liability that arise
because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or
because the actuaries have updated their assumptions — charged to the Pensions Reserve.
Contributions paid to the Gloucestershire pension fund: cash paid as employer’s
contributions to the pension fund, in settlement of liabilities.

Statutory provisions limit the amount chargeable to council tax to that payable by the Council to the
pension fund in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.
In the Movement in Reserves Statement this means that there are appropriations to and from the
Pension Reserve to remove the notional charges and credits for retirement benefits and replace them
with the cash paid to the pension fund and any amounts payable to the fund but unpaid at the year

end.

The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact
to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows
rather than as benefits are earned by employees.
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1.4

Discretionary Benefits

The Council has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event
of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff
are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award, and accounted for using the same policies
as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.

GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS

Grants and contributions received from the government and other organisations are not credited to
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until any conditions attached to the grant or
contribution have been satisfied. For example, conditions may be stipulated that specify that the
grants or contributions are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or they must be
returned to the transferor.

Amounts received as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried
on the Balance Sheet as Revenue or Capital Grants Received in Advance. When the conditions are
satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (if ring-fenced) or Taxation
and Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ring-fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they
are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement, so that they
are available to fund capital expenditure. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital
expenditure, it is credited to the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve. Where it has been applied, it is
credited to the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital
expenditure.

Principal or Agent for Grants and Contributions

Section 2.6 of the Code describes how the accounting treatment for transactions within a Council’s
financial statements shall have regard to the general principle of whether the Council is acting as the
principal or agent, in line with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Code stipulates
that a Council is acting as an agent in situations or circumstances “where the Council is acting as an
intermediary.” It is acting as a principal in situations or circumstances “where the Council is acting on
its own behalf’. The guidance specifies that an entity is acting as a principal, i.e., providing the
specified goods or services itself, if it controls the goods or services before they transfer to the
customer. It is acknowledged for many such arrangements the Council might be acting as both agent
and principal with the principal portion being the element of grant that the authority will be awarded
themselves as a part of a joint arrangement and which it will recognise in its financial statements.

If the Council is administering the distribution of the grant, is fully reimbursed for delivering that funding
(and the Council is not liable for any overpayments), the amount of the award is predetermined based
on business rate relief or rateable value, then these factors indicate that the Council is acting as an
intermediary and does not have ‘control’. Therefore, accounting as an agent would be appropriate.
The grant would not then be reported as income and expenditure, and balances relate only to sums
due to or from the Council.

If a Council has discretion over to support the businesses and the amount of the award. These factors
that would indicate that the Council is not acting as an agent but has control and is acting as principal.
In this instance presentation in the CIES will depend on the Council’s judgement as to whether the
grant relates to specific service objectives or is non-specific grant income.
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1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

OVERHEADS AND SUPPORT SERVICES

The Council operates and manages its corporate and support services separately and expenditure
relating to these activities is reported to key decision makers as separate activities. These overheads
are not therefore apportioned to services.

COUNCIL TAX RECOGNITION

Council Tax receivable for the financial year is recognised in the Collection Fund, a separate statutory
account maintained by billing authorities. The Fund is charged with the council tax requirements
(‘precepts and demands’) set by the major preceptors and billing authority before the start of the year,
leaving (after providing for uncollectable debts) a surplus or deficit, which is then distributed to the
same authorities in future years in proportion to their precepts or demands.

The council tax income included in the Council’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
for the year represents its ‘demand’ plus its share of the collection fund surplus or deficit due for the
year, before any distribution. Because the amount of surplus or deficit that can be credited or charged
to the Council’s general fund is governed by statute, and is limited to that declared at the start of the
year, adjustments are made in the Movement in Reserves Statement to the collection fund adjustment
account to reflect the difference between the surplus or deficit due for the year and that which can be
released according to statute.

There is no statutory requirement for a separate collection fund balance sheet. Instead, the fund
balances (arrears, over/pre-payments, bad debts provision and accumulated surpluses or deficits)
are distributed across the balance sheets of the billing authority and the major preceptors, in
proportion to their precepts and demands. The Council, as a billing authority, therefore accounts for
council tax balances on an Agency basis, showing only its share of the fund balances on its balance
sheet.

NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES (NNDR) INCOME RECOGNITION

NNDR income is recognised in the same way as council tax described above, with the exception that
the netincome and surplus/deficit credited or charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement is shared between the billing authority, the County Council and central government in
statutory proportions. NNDR balances are also distributed across their balance sheets in the same
proportions.

VAT

Income and expenditure excludes any amounts related to VAT, as all VAT collected is payable to HM
Revenue and Customs and all VAT paid is recoverable from them.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS - RECOGNITION OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Council recognises non-current assets when expenditure is incurred on assets:
e Held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for
administrative purposes.
o Expected to be used for more than one financial period.
e Where it is expected that the future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to
the Council.
o Where the cost can be measured reliably.

The initial cost of an asset is recognised to be:
e Purchase price, construction cost, minimum lease payments or equivalent including import
duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates.
e Costs associated with bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner required by management.
e Any costs of dismantling and removing an existing asset and restoring the site on which it is
located.
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1.10

The cost of an asset acquired other than by purchase or construction is deemed to be its fair value,
except where an asset is acquired via an exchange it is deemed to be the carrying amount of the
asset given up by the Council.

Donated assets are measured initially at fair value. The difference between their fair values and any
consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made
conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in a Donated Assets Reserve account.
Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement they are
reversed out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in
Reserves Statement.

Subsequent ‘enhancement’ expenditure is treated as capital expenditure when it is considered it will
increase the value of the asset or its useful life or increase the extent to which the Council can use
the asset.

De Minimis policy - expenditure on vehicles below £5,000 (excluding VAT) or on other assets below
£10,000 (excluding VAT) is not treated as capital expenditure except where the sum of identical
assets purchased exceeds this figure, as is the case with waste collection bins and caddies.

Capital assets are held on the Balance Sheet as Non-Current Assets.
NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PPE)

Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the provision of services, for rental to
others, or for administrative or other operational purposes on a continuing basis are classified as
Property, Plant and Equipment. Such assets are categorised as Other Land and Buildings, Vehicles
Plant and Equipment, Infrastructure, Community Assets, Surplus Assets and Assets Under
Construction (if any).

Infrastructure assets are inalienable assets, expenditure on which is only recoverable by continued
use of the asset and there is no prospect for sale or alternative use. Examples include footpaths,
cycle tracks and drainage systems.

Community Assets are assets that the authority intends to hold in perpetuity, have no determinable
useful lives and which may have restrictions on their disposal. Examples include cemeteries land
and open spaces used for recreation.

Surplus Assets are assets which are not being used to deliver services or for administrative purposes
but which do not meet the definition of Investment properties or Assets Held for Sale.

Recognition

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is
capitalised on an accrual’s basis, provided that it yields benefits to the Council for more than one
financial year and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. This excludes expenditure on routine
repairs and maintenance, which is charged direct to service revenue accounts when it is incurred.
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Measurement

PPE assets are initially measured at cost, comprising all expenditure that is directly attributable to
bringing the asset into working condition for its intended use. The Council does not capitalise
borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction.

The assets are then carried on the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:

¢ Other Land and Buildings — Current value, using the basis of existing use value (EUV) where
an active market exists or Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC), where there is no active
market for the asset or it is specialised.

¢ Infrastructure — depreciated historic cost.

¢ Community assets — historic cost (where known). The Code offers the option for authorities
to measure community assets at valuation. The Council has so far not adopted to change its
accounting policy in this way as it does not currently have the management information to
make reasonable valuation estimates of community assets.

e Assets under construction — historic cost.

e Surplus Assets — Current value, using the fair value basis (see paragraph 1.18 Fair Value
Measurement).

¢ In the case of assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both) i.e., Vehicles, Plant
and Equipment, depreciated historic cost is used as a proxy for current value.

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at Current value are re-valued where there have been material
changes during the year and as a minimum every five years.

Where there is an upward revaluation, the carrying value is increased and the gain credited to the
Revaluation Reserve. This is reflected in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as
a revaluation gain, included in Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. Exceptionally, gains
are credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services (and not the Revaluation Reserve)
where a revaluation loss or impairment in respect of that asset was previously charged to a service
revenue account (adjusted for the depreciation that would have been charged had the revaluation or
impairment losses not occurred).

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for as follows:

e Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the
carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the
accumulated gains)

¢ Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 15t April 2007 only, the date of
its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital
Adjustment Account.
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Impairment

PPE assets are assessed at the end of each year for evidence of impairment. Where evidence exists
and the effect is considered material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where
this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the difference.

Where there are revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve the impairment loss is
written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains).

Where there are no gains in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance to meet the
impairment loss, the remaining loss is written down against the relevant service line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversal is credited to the relevant service
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss,
adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets with a determinable finite
useful life, by writing down the carrying value of the asset in the Balance Sheet over the remaining
periods expected to benefit from their use. Assets not depreciated are those without a determinable
finite useful life (land and community assets), assets that are not yet available for use (assets under
construction) and assets reclassified as Held for Sale.

Depreciation is calculated on the following basis:

e Buildings, Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment, Infrastructure, Surplus assets —
straight-line allocation over the asset’s estimated useful life. Newly acquired assets are
depreciated from the year following that in which they were acquired.

e Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are brought into use.
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value
depreciation charged and the depreciation that would have been charged based on their historical

cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Assets disposed of during the year are depreciated in the year of disposal or in the case of assets
reclassified as Held for Sale, in the year they were reclassified.

Componentisation
Where an item of Property Plant and Equipment has components whose cost is significant in relation
to the total cost of that item they are identified as separate assets and depreciated separately. The

Council’s current Componentisation Policy defines a separate component:

e For new assets and enhancements (excluding land), as an item of expenditure with a value
greater than £50,000 or 20% of the cost of the asset, whichever is the higher

e For buildings revalued after 15t April 2010, as an item with a current net book value in excess
of £250,000 or 20% of the cost, whichever is the higher.
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1.1

1.12

1.13

NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment properties are those that are held solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or
production of goods or is held for sale.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, based on the
amount at which the asset, in its highest and best use, could be exchanged between market
participants at the reporting date. Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually as
necessary dependent on changes in market conditions in the year. Gains and losses on revaluation
are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal.
Such gains and losses, however, are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on
the General Fund Balance and are therefore reversed out in the Movement in Reserves Statement
and credited to the Capital Adjustment Account and the Capital Receipts Reserve.

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment
Income line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Expenditure on assets that do not have physical substance and which are controlled by the entity
through custody or legal rights (e.g., software licences), is capitalised when it will bring benefits to the
Council for more than one financial year. Internally generated assets are capitalised where it can be
demonstrated that the project is technically feasible, is intended to be completed (with adequate
resources being available), where the Council will be able to generate future economic benefits or
deliver service potential by being able to sell or use the asset, and where the expenditure during the
development phase can be reliably measured.

Intangible assets are measured at cost, which is amortised over the estimated useful life of the asset
to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, to reflect the
pattern of consumption of benefits. Estimated remaining useful lives are reviewed annually and an
asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired — any
losses recognised are charged to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or cessation of use of an intangible
asset is credited or charged to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement.

Amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact
on the General Fund Balance, so are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in
Reserves Statement and charged or credited to the Capital Adjustment Account with any sale
proceeds credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS — DISPOSALS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held
for Sale. Assets are classified as held for sale where the asset is available for immediate sale in its
present condition and where the sale is highly probable i.e., the asset has been advertised for sale
and a buyer sought and the completion of the sale is expected within twelve months of the balance
sheet date.
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1.15

Except when carried at (depreciated) historic cost, an asset is revalued immediately before its
reclassification as Held for Sale, using its existing category’s measurement basis. Following
reclassification assets are measured at the lower of their carrying values and fair values less costs to
sell. Any subsequent gains in value are first used to reverse any losses previously charged to the
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement and thereafter recognised in the Revaluation Reserve. Losses in value are charged to the
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services (even when there is a balance held for that asset in
the Revaluation Reserve).

Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale, except in the year in which they were classified
as held for sale.

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified as
non-current assets (Property, Plant and Equipment or Investment assets) and valued at the lower of
their carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale (adjusted for depreciation,
amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been classified as Held
for Sale), and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.

When an asset is disposed of, or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance
Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the
gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e.,
netted off against carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any revaluation gains
accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are written off to the Capital Adjustment
Account.

Amounts received from a disposal in are categorised as capital receipts. The balance of receipts is
required to be credited to the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve and can then only be used for new
capital investment or set aside to reduce the Council’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital
Financing Requirement). Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance
in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current assets
is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Such amounts are therefore
appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in
Reserves Statement.

REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE (REFCUS)

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not
result in the creation of non-current assets is charged to the relevant service revenue account in the
year. To the extent the Council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from capital
resources (borrowing, capital receipts or grants) a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account via
the Movement in Reserves Statement reverses out the amounts charged to the General Fund
Balance so there is no impact on the level of council tax.

CHARGES TO REVENUE FOR NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Service revenue accounts, support services and trading accounts are charged with the following
amounts to record the real cost of holding assets during the year:

¢ Depreciation of property, plant and equipment used by the relevant service.

e Amortisation of intangible assets used by the service.

e Revaluation and impairment losses, where there are no accumulated gains in the
Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be charged.
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The Council cannot raise council tax to cover depreciation, amortisation or revaluation and
impairment losses. It is, however, required to make an annual provision (known as Minimum Revenue
Provision or MRP) from revenue towards reducing its overall borrowing requirement, equal to an
amount calculated on a prudent basis by the Council in accordance with statutory guidance. The
above charges are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance and replaced by a MRP
contribution to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement of Reserves Statement.

LEASES

Leases are classified as either Finance Leases or Operating Leases. Arrangements that do not have
the legal status of a lease but convey the right to use an asset in return for payment are accounted
for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets.

Defining a Finance Lease

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the
lessee. This is likely to apply if some or all of the following situations are met:

o If the lessee will gain ownership of the asset at the end of the lease term (e.g., in the
case of hire purchase)

¢ If the lessee has an option to purchase the asset at a sufficiently favourable price that it
is reasonably certain, at the inception of the lease, that it will be exercised.

o If the lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset, even if title is not
transferred. The economic life of the asset is deemed to be consistent with the useful
life of the asset in the depreciation policy. The Council recognises the major part to be
75% of the life of the asset, unless on an individual case basis this would not give a true
representation of the substance of the transaction.

o Atthe inception of the lease, the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts
to at least substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset. The present value of the
minimum lease payments is calculated by discounting at the rate inherent in the lease.
If this rate cannot be determined the incremental borrowing rate applicable for that year
is used. The Council recognises “substantially all” to mean 90% of the value of the
asset. In some circumstances, a level of 75% is used if the Council believes that using
this level will give a result that better reflects the underlying transaction.

e The leased assets are of such a specialised nature that only the lessee can use them
without major modifications.

e [f the lessee cancels the lease, the lessor’s losses associated with the cancellation are
borne by the lessee.

e Gains or losses from the fluctuation in the fair value of the residual accrue to the lessee
(e.g., in the form of a rent rebate equalling most of the sales proceeds at the end of the
lease)

e The lessee has the ability to continue the lease for a secondary period at a rent that is
substantially lower than market rent.

o Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are
considered separately for classification.
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Lessee Accounting for a finance lease

Where the Council is leasing an asset (for example as a tenant) that is deemed a finance lease, it will
recognise that asset within its asset register, and account for that asset as though it were an owned
asset.

The initial recognition of the asset is at the fair value of the asset, or if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments. A liability is also recognised at this value, which is reduced as lease
payments are made. Lease payments made to the lessor are split between the reduction in the liability
and interest, which is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Lessor Accounting for a finance lease

Where the Council grants a finance lease over property or items of plant or equipment the carrying
values of the relevant assets are written out of the Balance Sheet to the Other Operating Expenditure
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
The amount receivable on disposal (representing the minimum lease payments due), is credited to
the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, also as part of the gain or
loss on disposal, matched by a cash receipt (if a premium has been paid) or a long term debtor (if to
be settled by payments in future years) on the Balance Sheet.

The amount receivable on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance
and is required to be treated as a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received this is posted
out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves
Statement.

Where the amount due under the lease is settled by payments in future years the amount receivable
on disposal is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts
Reserve.

When received future lease payments are apportioned between:

¢ A charge for the acquisition of the assets, which reduces the lease debtor.
e Finance interest, which is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

An amount equivalent to the charge for the acquisition of the assets is at the same time transferred
from the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve to the Capital Receipts Reserve.

Defining an Operating Lease

A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
arising from ownership of the asset.

Lessor Accounting for an operating lease

Where the Council grants an operating lease over property or items of plant or equipment, the asset
is retained on the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the relevant service income line or, if
the asset is classified as an investment property, to the Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Lessee Accounting for operating leases

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the service using the asset in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.
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Application of IFRS16

From 1st April 2024 the council adopted the IFRS16 leasing standard. This will remove the distinction
between finance operating leases where the council is the lessee with all leases being considered as
finance leases and recorded on the Balance Sheet with the exception of low value or short-term
leases as detailed above. Where the council leases out property, plant or equipment (lessor) these
leases will continue to be recorded as operating leases or finance leases depending on the substance
of the lease.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Balance Sheet when the authority becomes party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. In the case of a financial asset this is when the
authority becomes committed to its purchase, except in the case of trade receivables, which are
recognised when the goods or services have been supplied. Financial liabilities are recognised when
the cash or goods or services have been received.

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and then carried at amortised cost. Where
interest is payable this is charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, based on the carrying amount of the liability
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at
which it was originally recognised.

Normally this means, for the Council’s borrowings, the amount recognised in the Balance Sheet
represents the outstanding principal repayable plus any accrued interest, and interest charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year stated in the
loan agreement. For current payables with no stated interest rate the amount recognised is the
outstanding invoiced amount.

Financial Assets

Under IFRS 9 applicable from 2018/19, the authority’s financial assets are classified into three
types:

¢ Financial assets at amortised cost — where payments consist solely of principal and interest
and the reason for holding is to collect cash flows.

e Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (OCl) — where payments consist solely of
principal and interest and the reason for holding is to collect cash flows and sell and where
payments do not consist solely of principal and interest but where the authority has
designated the instrument as Fair value through OCI.

e Fair value through Profit and Loss (P&L) - where payments do not consist solely of principal

and interest.

Under IAS39, which applied up until 2018/19, financial assets were classified as:

o Loans and receivables — assets that had fixed or determinable payments and were not
quoted in an active market. These were initially measured at fair value and carried at
amortised cost.

¢ Available-for-sale assets — those that had a quoted market price and/or did not have fixed or
determinable payments. These were initially measured and carried at fair value, except in
the case of equity instruments that did not have a quoted price in an active market and for
which a reliable fair value could not be established; these were permitted to be carried at
cost.
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Financial assets at amortised cost

These are initially measured at fair value and carried at amortised cost. Where interest is receivable,
this is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement, based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the
effective rate of interest for the instrument. Normally this means, for the Council’s loans and
investments, the amount recognised in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable plus
any accrued interest, and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
is the amount receivable for the year stated in the loan agreement.

Deposits, bonds and loans are assessed on recognition for impairment due to the likelihood that
payments due under the contract will not be made and, if material, a provision for twelve month
expected credit losses set aside from the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. If the risk of default increases significantly
after initial recognition and for trade and lease receivables a provision is set aside based on expected
lifetime credit losses, if deemed significant or material.

For current receivables with no stated interest rate the amount recognised is the outstanding invoiced
amount, less any allowance for impairment (provision for bad or doubtful debts).

Any gains and losses that arise on the disposal or de-recognition of the asset are credited or charged
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.

Fair value through OCI

These are initially measured at cost (equivalent to fair value) and carried at fair value. For instruments
quoted in an active market, fair values are based on their market prices at the reporting date, except
where the instruments will mature within twelve months of that date, in which case they are assumed
not materially different to (and therefore equal to) their carrying values.

Interest receivable is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, based on the amortised cost of the asset
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. Dividends from equity instruments
designated by the authority as Fair value through OCI are credited to the same line when they become
receivable by the Council.

Changes in fair value are balanced by an entry to the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve
(FIRR) (formerly the Available-for-Sale Reserve), with the gain or loss being recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Any gains or losses held in the FIRR on de-recognition of the asset are credited or charged to the
General Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Fair value through P&L

These are initially measured at cost and carried at fair value. For instruments quoted in an active
market, fair values are based on their market prices at the reporting date, except where the
instruments will mature within twelve months of that date, in which case they are assumed not
materially different to (and therefore equal to) their carrying values.

Dividends are credited to the Financing and Investment Income and expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) when they become receivable by the
Council. Changes in fair value and any gains or losses on de-recognition are charged or credited to
the same line in the CIES and, in the case of pooled investment funds reversed to the Pooled
Investment Funds Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS). Sale
proceeds on de-recognition are credited to usable capital receipts via the MIRS.
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1.19

1.20

1.21

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Council measures certain non-financial assets (Surplus Assets, Investment Property and Assets
Held for Sale) and its Available-for-sale financial assets at fair value at the balance sheet date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

¢ in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
¢ inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The fair value of an asset or liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their best
economic interest. In the case of a non-financial asset, the authority takes into account the market
participants’ ability to use the asset in its ‘highest and best use’ or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its ‘highest and best use’.

Inputs to the valuation techniques used in measuring fair value are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

o Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
o Level 2 - directly or indirectly observable inputs other than quoted prices
e Level 3 - unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

INVENTORIES

Inventories held in stores are included in the Balance Sheet at the latest price paid. This is a
departure from the requirements of the Code, which require inventories to be shown at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. The effect of the different treatment is not considered material.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in no more than
three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council’s cash management.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an obligation that
probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits, but where the timing or amount of
the transfer is uncertain. For instance, the Council may be involved in a court case that could
eventually result in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement when the Council becomes aware of the event, based on its best estimate
of the likely settlement. When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision
carried on the Balance Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year.
Where it becomes more likely than not that a transfer of economic benefits will not be required (or a
lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant
service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be met by another
party (e.g., from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income in the relevant service revenue
account if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the obligation is settled.
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1.25

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances
where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources
will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but, where material, disclosed in a note
to the accounts.

RESERVES

The Council sets aside specific amounts as usable reserves for future policy purposes or to cover
contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts from the General Fund balance in the
Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is
charged to the appropriate service revenue account in that year to form part of the Surplus or Deficit
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back
into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge
against council tax for the expenditure in that year.

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial
instruments, retirement and employee benefits, and they do not represent usable resources for the
Council — these reserves are known as unusable reserves.

CONTINGENT ASSETS

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible asset
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Council.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but, where material, disclosed in a note
to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service
potential.

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
AND ERRORS

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a
material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e., in the current
and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events
and conditions on the Council’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change made
has a material effect, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied.

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.
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1.28
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EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised
for issue. Two types of events can be identified:

o those that provide evidence of conditions that arose after the reporting period — the
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events.

¢ those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period — the Statement
of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would
have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their
estimated financial effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of
Accounts.

ESTIMATION TECHNIQUES

Estimation techniques are the methods adopted to assess the values of assets, liabilities, gains and
losses and changes in reserves in situations where there is uncertainty as to their precise value.
Unless specified in the Code or in legislative requirements, the method of estimation will generally be
the one that most closely reflects the economic reality of the transaction.

JOINTLY CONTROLLED OPERATIONS

Jointly controlled operations are activities undertaken by the Council, together with other
organisations, involving the shared use of assets and resources of the organisations rather than the
establishment of a separate entity. The Council recognises on its Balance Sheet the assets that it
controls and the liabilities that it incurs and charges or credits the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement with the expenditure it incurs and the share of income it earns from the activity
of the operation.

Such operations and assets, not being separate entities, are accounted for in the Council only
accounts and are not separate entities for Group account purposes.

GROUP ACCOUNTS
Ubico Limited

At 315t March 2024 the Council had a 12.5% shareholding in Ubico Limited, a local authority owned
company which has eight members, providing environmental services to the shareholder Councils.
Since the Council has no control or joint control or significant influence over the company, there is no
requirement to produce consolidated group accounts.

Publica Group (Support) Limited

While the Council has an interest in the Company the Council’s share of profit for the year and net
assets at the balance sheet date have not been consolidated into the Council’s single entity accounts.
The figures involved are not material to the accuracy of the accounts, and the Council has not
prepared Group Accounts on this basis.
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2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Code requires changes in accounting policy to be applied retrospectively unless alternative transitional
arrangements are specified in the Code. There is also the requirement for an authority to disclose information
relating to the impact of an accounting change that will be required by a new standard that has been issued
but not yet adopted.

In compiling the 2024/25 accounts IFRS16 has been recognised in these accounts and the accounting

policies have been updated accordingly. IFRS16 requires local authorities that are lessees to recognise
most leases on their balance sheet as right-of-use assets with corresponding lease liabilities.

3. MATERIALITY JUDGEMENTS USED IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In applying the accounting policies set out on pages 21 to 37 the Council has had to make certain
judgements about balances and transactions which may be uncertain depending on future events.

PPE Revaluations
The Council Property Assets have been valued by the valuers employed by Publica Group (Support) Limited.

Our valuation report quotes the following:

“Following a period of general uncertainty following the end of the global pandemic, the property
market has settled. Transactions have returned to pre pandemic levels and comparable evidence is
again readily available.

The hospitality and retail sectors were dramatically hit due to long term closures as a result of
lockdown measures. This was shortly followed by a dramatic hike in energy costs and rising costs of
raw materials. The distribution and the grocery sector of retail continue to perform well, having
benefitted from a shift towards online purchasing.

The UK left the European Union 31/01/2021. Whilst Brexit is of less significance than the Covid 19
pandemic there are ramifications, particularly around the supply of cross border goods. The
hangover from Brexit remains albeit having increasingly less influence on the market. Supply of
goods has been further impacted by the war in Ukraine. The UK has experienced a high inflationary
period during 2023/4 with both food and energy prices rising sharply. These rises seem to have
slowed and recent cuts in Bank of England Base Rate should help restore some confidence to the
market”.

This will also apply to any investments that include PPE valuations such as the Gloucestershire Pension
Fund’s property assets.

Publica Group (Support) Limited

The Council jointly owns (with West Oxfordshire District Council, Cotswold District Council and Cheltenham
Borough Council) Publica Group (Support) Limited, a wholly owned company, limited by guarantee, operating
with Mutual Trading Status to deliver services on behalf of the Council and services to other member Councils
under contract. While the Council has an interest in the Company the Council’s share of profit for the year
and net assets at the balance sheet date have not been consolidated into the Council’s single entity accounts.
The figures involved are not material to the accuracy of the accounts, and the Council has not prepared
Group Accounts on this basis.

In addition, the company is considered to be an employment vehicle, employing and paying staff and then
recharging these costs back to the Councils. It does not trade and does not make a profit, with any surpluses
generated being redistributed back to the Councils. Each Council has retained its governance arrangements
and member control over decisions. Publica are unable to make financial decisions that will have an impact
on the Medium Term Financial Strategy of the Councils, without proper approval having been given by each
Council in accordance with the Council’s constitution and financial and contract rules.
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Pension Liability

No allowance has been made in the Councils’ accounts for any transfer out of the Local Government Pension
Scheme (LGPS) of the pension liability to Publica Group (Support) Limited. The service contract and tripartite
agreement between the Council, Gloucestershire Pension Fund and Publica Group (Support) Limited mean
that the pension liability and risk relating to the pension fund remains with the Council, following the TUPE
transfer of the majority of the Council’s staff to Publica on 1st November 2017. Therefore, the Council is
reporting the pension liability for both staff transferred to Publica, and the Council’s retained staff, in the
accounts.

Although Publica, as the employer of many of the current staff may be initially responsible for paying any exit
contributions (for example), for any of its staff that are members of the LGPS, such cost will be reimbursed
by the relevant Council. The accounts have been prepared on the basis that the full pension fund liability for
the LGPS sits in the Council’s accounts. There are no separate disclosures for Publica as they are not
responsible for any LGPS liability.

Changes in the current economic climate and the surge in interest rates have resulted in a significant change
in the discount rate used by the authority’s actuary to calculate pension fund assets and liabilities. This in
turn moved the overall pension results from a net deficit of £10,402k in 2023/24 to a net surplus of £23,735k
in 2024/25 (excluding asset ceiling calculation).

Under IFRIC 14 a defined bené€fit liability is calculated as the net total of the present value of the defined
benefit obligation minus the fair value at the end of the reporting date of the plan assets. If the fair value of
the plan assets exceeds the calculated obligations (an asset), IAS 19 contains a restriction over the
amount of the asset that can be recognised.

In effect it requires a calculation of the ‘Asset Ceiling’ this being based on the future current and past service
costs less expected contributions.

The authority has commissioned the actuary to carry out this calculation and an amendment of £23,735k
was made to the accounts to ensure that there is no Pension asset within the accounts. This is shown in
Note 34.

Business Rate Appeals Provision

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced a business rates retention scheme that enables local
authorities to retain a proportion of the business rates generated in their area. The current arrangements for
the retention of business rates came into effect on 1%t April 2013. From this date, district councils such as
Forest of Dean assume a share of the liability for refunding ratepayers who have successfully appealed
against the rateable value of their properties on the rating list. A successful appeal may mean the Council
having to refund rates paid in previous years. The Council has therefore set aside a provision to cover its
share of the repayments it estimates will be made and made a judgement as to the timescale over which
they are likely to be repaid. There has been another revaluation period that applies to bills from 15t April 2023
so there is expected to be a future impact on this provision in future years.

The current provision is based on the expected success rate of appeals lodged at the year end, together with
an estimated reduction in the rating list, based on historical experience.
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4. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the Council
about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical
experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined
with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.

The items in the Council’s Balance Sheet at 31t March 2025 for which there is a significant risk of material
adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows:

Item

Uncertainties

Effect if actual results differ from
assumptions

Property  Plant
and Equipment

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that
are dependent on assumptions about the level
of repairs and maintenance that will be incurred
in relation to individual assets. The current
economic climate makes it uncertain that the
Council will be able to sustain its current
spending on repairs and maintenance, bringing
into doubt the useful lives assigned to assets.

If the useful life of assets is
depreciation increases and
amount of assets falls.

reduced,
the carrying

It is estimated that the annual depreciation
charge for buildings would increase by
approximately £10,240 for every year that
useful lives had to be reduced.

Pensions
Liability/Asset

Estimation of the net liability/asset to pay
pensions depends on a number of complex
judgements relating to the discount rate used,
the rate at which salaries are projected to
increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality
rates and expected returns on pension fund
assets. A firm of consulting actuaries is
engaged to provide the Council with expert
advice about the assumptions to be applied.

The effects on the net pensions’ liability of
changes in individual assumptions can be
measured. For example, a 0.1% decrease in
the discount rate assumption would result in an
increase in the pension obligation of
approximately 2% (£991,000) and a one year
increase in member life expectancy would
increase the pension obligation by
approximately 3% to 5%. A sensitivity analysis
is included in Note 34- Pensions.

The impact of the continuing uncertainties on
the carrying value of these assets cannot be
assessed at this stage as it depends on the
extent and their effect on the wider economy in
the long term, and there is currently insufficient
evidence available to assess this.

The current high rates of interest impact on the
pension fund figures significantly and have led
to a requirement to identify an asset in the
accounts.

We have carried out a calculation in perpetuity
under IFRIC 14 for the current year based on a
discount rate of 5.8%, a salary increase rate of
3.3%, projected current service costs per
annum of £620,000 and projected primary
contributions of £836,000.

Any one or all of these factors could change
over the next 2 years before the next triennial
revaluation at which point, we believe any
projected surplus will be adjusted for.

Non-domestic
rates (NDR)
appeals
provision

This provision has been set up to meet losses
arising from the successful appeal of
businesses against the rateable value of their
properties

For appeals up to 31st March 2017 a 1%
increase in the assumed success rate,
together with a 1% reduction in the rates
payable, would result in an increase in the
estimated provision required of £6,300 of
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Item

Uncertainties

Effect if actual results differ from
assumptions

For appeals up to 31st March 2017 (2010 list)
and 31st March 2023 (2017 list), the provision
is based on an expected success rate of
appeals submitted at 31st March 2017 and an
estimated reduction in rateable value.

Appeals from 1st April 2017 onwards (2017 list),
are subject to a new process known as Check,
Challenge, Appeal. As yet there is limited
information upon which to base an estimate of
the provision necessary under the new process,
so the estimated provision has been based on
2% of the Rating list (2017) as at 31st March
2024. This figure has then been averaged out
with the figure produced by applying the 2010
list process to the actual appeals under the
Check, Challenge, and Appeal process.

For appeals from 1st April 2025 onwards (2024
list), there is as yet limited information upon
which to base an estimate of the provision
necessary

which the Council’s share would be £2,520.
This would reduce any collection fund surplus
able to be distributed to the Council in future
years.

For appeals from 15t April 2017 a 1% change in
the level of provision would equate to a change
in provision of £117,830 of which the Council’s
share would be £47,132.

For appeals from 1st April 2023 a 1% change in
the level of provision would equate to a change
in provision of £31,480 of which the Council’s
share would be £12,590
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5. ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER THE REGULATIONS

This note details the adjustments that have been made to Comprehensive Income and Expenditure so that
it equals the amount available, under statutory provisions, to meet future capital and revenue expenditure.

The following describes the major reserves and the adjustments made:
General Fund Balance

The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of a council are required to be paid and out
of which all liabilities of the Council are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide
otherwise. These rules also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact on the
General Fund Balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice. The General
Fund Balance therefore summarises the resources that the Council is statutorily empowered to spend on its
services or on capital investment (or the deficit of resources that the Council is required to recover) at the
end of the financial year.

Capital Receipts Reserve

The Capital Receipts Reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets which are
restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure or to be set aside to finance
historical capital expenditure. The balance on the reserve shows the resources that have yet to be applied
for these purposes at the year end.

Capital Grants Unapplied
The Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve holds the grants and contributions received towards capital projects

for which the Council has met the conditions that would otherwise require repayment of the monies, but
which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure.
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2023/24 Usable Reserves

2024/25 Usable Reserves

General Capital Capital General Capital Capital
Fund Receipts Grants Fund Receipts Grants
Balance Reserve | Unapplied Balance Reserve | Unapplied
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Adjustments to Revenue Resources
Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements
Reversal of entries included in the surplus or deficit on the provision of services in relation
to capital expenditure (charged or credited to the Capital Adjustment Account)
(317) - -| Charges for depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-current assets (365) - -
(21) - -| Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment - - -
- - -| Donated Lease Asset 62 - -
(563) - -| Movements in the fair value of Investment properties 405 - -
8,117 - (117)| Capital grants and contributions 3,053 - (921)
(7,310) -| Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (2,225) - -
Reversal of other entries
1,937 - -| Pension costs transferred from the Pensions Reserve 972 - -
9) - -| Fair value gains and losses of pooled Investment Funds (4) - -
(18) - -| Council tax and NNDR net deficit transferred to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account 324 - -
(1) - -| Holiday Pay transferred from the Accumulated Absences Account (51) - -
1,815 - (117)| Total adjustments to Revenue Resources 2,171 - (921)
Adjustments between Revenue and Capital resources
128 (128) -| Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to capital receipts 371 (371) -
Transfer of capital receipts from revenue to capital receipts 35 (35) -
Statutory provision for the repayment of debt 56 - -
116 - -| Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account 372 - -
244 (128) -| Total adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources 834 (406) -
Adjustments to Capital resources
- 2,388 -| Use of capital receipts to finance capital expenditure - 1,413 -
- - -| Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure - - 535
- (13) -| Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts upon receipt of cash - (163) -
21 (21) -| Capital Grants and loans repaid 18 (18) -
21 2,354 -| Total adjustments to Capital Resources 18 1,232 535
2,080 2,226 (117)] Total adjustments between Accounting and Funding basis under the regulations 3,023 826 (386)
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6. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Section 151 Officer on 30" June 2025. Events
taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or notes. Where events taking place
before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 March 2025, the figures in the financial
statements and notes have been adjusted to reflect the impact of this information, where material.

7. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT

There are no prior year adjustments with the 2024/2025 statement of accounts.

8. TRADING OPERATIONS & AGENCY SERVICES

The Council has the following trading activity, the deficit of which is included in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement. An analysis of the trading activities is as follows:

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Car Parking Expenditure 215 207
Car Parking Income (208) (183)
Revaluations - 1
Net Deficit 7 25

The Council own a number of car parks within the district where a charge for parking is made. Car park trading
operations are included within the Development, Asset Management, FEP & Infrastructure shown on the face
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Agency Services
During 2023/24, the Council acted as an agent to the government in the distribution of Cost of Living grants

to local residents. The expenditure incurred was £0.570 million, which was fully reimbursed by government
grant received in 2023/24. However, in 2024/25 the Council did not act as an agent for any government

grants.

9. OTHER OPERATING (INCOME) AND EXPENDITURE

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Parish Council precepts 3,330 2,995
Levies 56 52
Right to Buy income (406) (128)
Net Other Operating Expenditure 2,980 2,919

Income from Right to Buy sales is due to the Council following the transfer of its housing stock to a housing

association in 2003.
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10. FINANCING AND INVESTMENT (INCOME) AND EXPENDITURE

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Interest payable and similar charges 2 -
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 798 (78)
Interest receivable and similar income (1,021) (1,013)
Income and expenditure in relation to investment properties and
changes in their fair value (surplus) / deficit (1,130) (40)
Fair value changes in financial assets (increase)/decrease 4 9
Net Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income (1,347) (1,122)
11. TAXATION AND NON SPECIFIC GRANT (INCOME) AND EXPENDITURE
2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000

Council Tax (9,919) (9,314)
Non-Domestic Rates (income) and expenditure:
- Billing authority share (6,598) (7,253)
- Collection Fund (surplus) / deficit 415 892
- Tariff payable to central government 3,896 3,748
- Levy payable to central government less Pool (surplus)/deficit 419 521
- NDR renewable energy contribution (439) (312)

(2,307) (2,404)
Non-ring-fenced government grants (4,366) (4,129)
Capital grants and contributions (2,190) (7,307)
Right of Use of Assets (63) -
Net Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income (18,845) (23,154)
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12.

OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION

Remuneration disclosures for Senior Officers whose salary is less than £150,000 but equal to or
more than £50,000 per year:

2024/25
Total Total
. . A Remuneration Remuneration
Post Title sali;yel:zl::mg Expense Cofr:rpleor:a;;on Benefits- excluding Pension including
Allowances Allowances office in-kind pe_nsio.n contributions Per\SiO-n
contributions contributions
£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Chief Executive 116,696 2,075 118,772 22,408 141,179

Director of Finance and Resources 99,916 574 - 100,489 19,529 120,018
Monitoring Officer (April to June) 40,766 184 13,800 54,749 7,896 62,645 | f.
R;fg;g;?;'&:;ﬁ';'es and Place 40,041 780 40,822 8,156 aso77|

Interim Head of Legal Senices 71,198 627 71,825 14,738 86,562
Interim Monitoring Officer (July to March) 26,890 E - 26,890 5,566 32,456 | f.

395,506 4,240 13,800 413,546 78,292 491,838

2023/24

mézmb:rt)ead of Paid Senice (April to| 11,117 111,117 11,117 .
Chief Executive (November to March) 45,212 224 45,436 9,363 54,799 e.
Director of Finance and Resources 98,343 642 98,985 20,311 119,296] d.

Monitoring Officer 82,800 378 83,178 17,140 100,318
Interim Head of Legal Senices 70,743 1005 71,748 14,378 86,126] c.

408,215 2,249 410,464 61,192 471,656

Notes:

a.

b.

For the purposes of this disclosure, ‘Senior Officer means Chief Executive, their direct reports
and statutory officers whose annual salary is between £50,000 and £150,000.

The Council does not operate a Performance Pay System and does not pay bonuses to any
member of staff.

The Interim Head of Legal Services is directly employed through FODDC and shared with
Cotswold and West Oxfordshire District Councils.

In December 2020, the Chief Financial Officer was also appointed as the Returning Officer for
the District. The 2024/25 figures include remuneration (£6,145) for this additional role. This has
no impact on the primary statements including the Balance Sheet and Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement.

An Interim Head of Paid Service was employed until October 2023 when a new Chief Executive
Officer was appointed by the Council.

The statutory role of Monitoring Officer was held by Mrs. Sian Roxborough until 30 June 2024.
Mrs. Julie Jones was appointed interim MO from 1 July 2024 at the Full Council meeting on held
on 25 July 2024 until the 19th of May 2025.

New post of Director of Communities and Place from 15t November 2024.
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The number of other employees whose remuneration, excluding employer’s pension contributions was

£50,000 or more in bands of £5,000 was:

No. of Employees | No. of Employees

Remuneration Band 2024/25 2023/24

£50,000 - £54,999 7 -

£55,000 - £59,999 1 -

£60,000 - £64,999 3 -

£65,000 - £69,999 1 -

£70,000 - £74,999 - -

£75,000 - £79,999 - -

£80,000 - £84,999 2
Total: 14 0

The 2024/25 figures recognise the transfer of staff to the Council from Publica Group (Support) Ltd.

The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other
redundancies are set out in the table below:

Number of Number of other | Total number of | Total cost of exit
Exit package compulsory departures exit packages by | packages in each
cost band redundancies agreed cost band band £
2024/25 | 2023/24 | 2024/25 | 2023/24 | 2024/25 | 2023/24 | 2024/25 | 2023/24
£0 - £20,000 - - 3.00 - 3.00 - 27,765.44 -
£20,001 - £40,000 - - 1.00 - 1.00 - 34,889.12 -
Total - - 4.00 - 4.00 - 62,654.56 -

13.

MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES

In 2024/25 the Council paid £335,340 (2023/24 £320,126) in allowances and expenses to 38 members.
The Expenditure reflects members’ allowances approved by Council for 2024/25, the approved budget
was for 38 members and there were no vacancies during the financial year. Full details of the Members’
Allowances scheme for 2025/26 can be found on the Council’s website.

14. TERMINATION BENEFITS

The council terminated the contracts of 4 employees in 2024/25 (0 in 2023/24). Total costs incurred
were £62,655 (£0 in 2023/24), of which £38,355 (£0 in 2023/24) related to early retirement costs

and £24,300 (£0 in 2023/24) related to redundancy payments - see Note 12 for the total cost per band.

15.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties; bodies or individuals with
the potential to control or influence the Council or to be controlled or influenced by the Council.
Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Council might have
been constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another
party’s ability to bargain freely with the Council.
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Central Government

Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the Council; it is
responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the Council operates, providing the
majority of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that
the Council has with other parties (e.g., council tax bills, housing benefits). Grants received from
government departments are shown in note 17.

Members

Members of the Council have direct control over the Council’s financial and operating policies. The
total of members’ allowances paid in 2024/25 is shown in note 13. During 2024/25 works and services
to the value of £112,756 were commissioned from organisations in which 15 members had an interest,
grants totalling £356,062 were paid to voluntary organisations in which 13 members had an interest. In
all instances, contracts were awarded in accordance with the Council’s standing orders and grants were
made with proper consideration of declarations of interest. The relevant members did not take part in
any discussion or decision relating to the grants. Details of these transactions are recorded in the
Register of Members’ Interests, open to public inspection at the council offices during office hours.

Other public bodies (subject to common control by central government)

The Council collects precepts on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucestershire Police and
Crime Commissioner and the Town and Parish Councils within the district’'s area. Precepts for the
County and Police and Crime Commissioner are shown in the notes to the Collection Fund.

5 members of the District Council have declared an interest in Gloucestershire County Council, 3 of
whom are elected members. 13 members of the District Council are also members of Town or Parish
Councils. 1 member is also the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner. Parish Precepts are shown in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Council employees are eligible to be members of the Local Government Pension Scheme, administered
by Gloucestershire County Council. The total employer’s contributions paid into the Pension fund by
the Council were £2,611,000 in respect of 2024/25 (£2,630,000 in 2023/24). Further detail can be found
in note 34 on page 76.

South West Audit Partnership (SWAP)

Forest of Dean District Council is a Member of SWAP which is a company limited by guarantee and is
wholly owned and controlled, as an in-house company, by the members and is a local authority
controlled company for the purposes of Part V of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. The
liability of each member is limited to £1, being the amount that each member undertakes to contribute
to the assets of the Company in the event of it being wound up while he is a member or within one year
after he ceases to be a member.

Ubico Limited

Ubico Limited was set up on 1%t April 2012, to deliver environmental services, and was jointly owned by
Cheltenham Borough Council and Cotswold District Council. During 2015 and 2016, Forest of Dean
District Council, Tewkesbury Borough Council, West Oxfordshire District Council, Stroud District
Council and Gloucestershire County Council joined the company as shareholders. During 2021/22
(November 2021) Gloucester City Council became an eighth shareholder within Ubico and all waste
services were transferred. This Council now holds an equal 1/8th shareholding in the Company.
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The company provides services to the shareholder Councils on a not-for-profit basis and therefore
qualifies for the Teckal exemption (named after the EU case that established the principle). As a Teckal
company, Ubico Limited must ensure that the percentage of work undertaken outside of the shareholder
contracts is less than 20% of its total activity.

While the Council has a 1/8th shareholding in Ubico Limited, no members of Forest of Dean District
Council serve on the company’s Board of Directors, the Council is not deemed to have significant
influence over the company. The separate operating practices, management structure and majority-
voting on the Ubico board do not constitute any means of joint-control over the company. The Council’s
interest is therefore classed as an investment in Ubico. On the 3™ of August 2024, the Council
transferred its waste collection contract previously fulfilled by Biffa Waste Services Ltd to Ubico. Staff
employed by Biffa on the Forest of Dean contract transferred to Ubico on the same date.

Publica Group (Support) Limited
Publica Group (Support) Limited is a not-for-profit company limited by guarantee with no share capital.

Forest of Dean District Council, along with West Oxfordshire District, Cotswold District and Cheltenham
Borough Councils have jointly set up Publica Group (Support) Limited, a wholly owned company, limited
by guarantee, operating with Mutual Trading Status to deliver services on behalf of the Council and
services to other members Councils under contract.

Publica Group (Support) Limited is a Teckal company fulfilling the conditions set out in Regulation 12(4)
of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. The Company is subject to management supervision by the
Members. As such, the Company is a body governed by public law as defined in the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015. While Publica Group (Support) Limited works closely with the Council, the company
has its own board of Directors, its own Management team, and operates independently from the
Council.

During 2024/25 the Council purchased services from Publica Group (Support) Limited to the value of
£6,045,043 (£7,431,753 in 23/24) and the company generated a surplus for the year of £211,617
(£253,115 for 2023/24). Whilst the Council is a partner, the Council’s share of Publica’s net assets of
£141,334 have not been included or consolidated into Group accounts, as they are not deemed material
to the accounts.

A review of Publica Group (Support) Limited was commissioned by the four partner Councils to review
the effectiveness of Publica and whether certain services would be better placed back with the Councils.
A decision was made by each Council to bring back services into the Council and this programme
began in early 2024. On the 1%t of November 2024, 68 employees were transferred from Publica Group
(Support) Limited back to the Council. This included services that were delivered directly for individual
Councils such as Democratic Services, Election Services, Planning, Building Control and some support
services such as financial management. The transfer also included the deputy Monitoring Officer and
deputy S151 Officer back into direct employment by the Council. A 2" phase has been agreed by all
Councils, and this will conclude with the transfer of staff back to the Council on 1%t of July 2025. The
2" phase is smaller and includes services such as Property and Estates, Project management and HR
Business Partners.
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16. EXTERNAL AUDIT COSTS

The total audit fees payable to the Council’s external auditor in 2024/25 were £249,180, (£182,481 in

2023/24), made up as follows:

FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000

Fees payable with regard to external audit services carried out by the
appointed auditor as set by PSAA (Bishop Fleming LLP) 155 141
Audit Fee Variations 2023/24 (Bishop Fleming LLP) 16 -
2022/23 Variation in Value for Money Fee charged. - (1)
2022/23 Certification of grant claims carried out (KPMG) 16 5
2023/24 Certification of grant claims carried out (KPMG) 16 .
Fees payable for the certification of grant claims and returns. (KPMG) 46 37

249 182
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17. GRANT INCOME

The Council credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive Income

and Expenditure Statement:

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income:
Revenue Support Grant 191 179
New Homes Bonus 556 722
Business Rates Relief Grants 2,994 2,869
Transparency 8 8
Rural Services Delivery Grant 170 147
Services Grant 18 105
Funding Guarantee 429 78
Levy Account Surplus Grant - 21
4,366 4,129
Credited to Services:
Housing Benefit Grant 14,378 14,398
Disabled Facilities Grant 862 810
NNDR Administration 121 121
Council Tax Administration Subsidy 5 -
DWP Additional Grant 49 49
Discretionary Housing Payments 72 72
Levelling Up Support Grant - 86
Council Tax Rebate New Burdens - 11
Shared Prosperity Funding 480 207
Alternate Fuel New Burden Grant - 33
Other Government Grants 880 389
Capital Grants & Contributions 2,190 7,307
Contributions from County Council 73 314
Total 23,476 27,926
The council has received the following grants and contributions that have yet to be recognised as
income, as they have conditions attached to them which have yet to be met. The balances at the year-
end are as follows:
2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Grants Receipts in Advance (Capital Grants)
Disabled Facilities Grant 28 28
Local Authority Housing Fund -tranche 1 funding 97 -
Department for Transport Electric Charger Grant 150 -
Total Grants Receipts in Advance (Capital Grants) 275 28
51
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18. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to demonstrate to council tax and rent payers how the funding available to the Council
(government grants, rents council tax and business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in comparison with those resources
consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding analysis also shows
how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Council’s services. Income and expenditure accounted for under
generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

2023/24 (ii) EXPENDITURE & FUNDING ANALYSIS 2024/25
Net Adjustments Net expenditure Net Adjustments Net expenditure
expenditure between the in the expenditure between the in the
chargeable to funding and Comprehensive chargeable to funding and Comprehensive
General accounting Income and General accounting Income and
Fund basis Expenditure Fund basis Expenditure
balances Statement balances Statement
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
3,507 (727) 2,780| Strategy 3,968 (577) 3,391
604 71 675| Built Environment 1,010 (1) 1,009
6,847 (69) 6,778| Finance 7,086 (167) 6,919
331 (129) 202| Nature Emergency 355 (99) 256
148 5,706 5,854| Sustainable Economy 336 969 1,305
237 (141) 96| Climate Emergency 359 (124) 235
721 304 1,025] Local Plan 958 (130) 828
739 (373) 366| Thriving Communities 1,073 (246) 827
13,134 4,642 17,776| Net Cost of Services 15,145 (375) 14,770
(14,635) (6,722) (21,357)| Other income and expenditure (14,563) (2,649) (17,212)
(1,501) (2,080) (3,581)| (Surplus) or Deficit 582 (3,024) (2,442)
Opening General Fund Balance including
(12,590) earmarked reserves at 1 April (14,091)
(1,501) Add (Surplus) or deficit in year 582
Closing General Fund Balance including
(14,091) earmarked reserves at 31 March (i) (13,509)

(i) For a split betw een the General Fund Balance and Earmarked Reserves see the Movement in Reserves Statement.

(ii) 2023/24 Net Cost of Service restated due to a change of service analysis.
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EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS

2023/24 (i) 2024/25

Adjustments for| Net changes Other Total Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the Adjustments for| Net changes Other Total

capital purposes for the Differences | Adjustments Comprehensive Income and Expenditure capital purposes for the Differences | Adjustments
(note 1 below) Pension (note 3) Statement amounts (note 1 below) Pension (note 3)
Adjustments Adjustments
(note 2) (note 2)

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
- (729) 2 (727)| Sstrategy - (585) 8 (577)
208 (137) - 71| Built Environment 188 (189) - (1)
120 (189) - (69)| Finance - (172) 5 (167)
- (129) - (129)| Nature Emergency - (99) - (99)
5777 (71) - 5,706| Sustainable Economy 1,032 (66) 3 969
- (140) (1 (141) Climate Emergency - (129) 5 (124)
416 (112) - 304| Local Plan 143 (295) 22 (130)
(21) (352) - (373)| Thriving Communities (18) (235) 7 (246)
6,500 (1,859) 1 4,642|Net Cost of Services 1,345 (1,770) 50 (375)
(6,671 ) (78) 27 (6,722) Other Income and Expenditure from the Funding Analysis (3, 1 27) 798 (320) (2,649)

Difference between General Fund surplus or deficit and
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
(171) (1,937) 28 (2,080) surplus or deficit (1,782) (972) (270) (3,024)
(i) 2023/24 Net Cost of Service restated due to a change of service analysis.
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Notes

(1) Adjustments for capital purposes

This column adds in revaluation gains/losses on Property, Plant and Equipment and Revenue Expenditure funded from capital under statute
(REFCUS) in the service lines and for:

e Other operating expenditure — adds gains/losses on disposals of Property, Plant and Equipment

¢ Financing and investment income and expenditure — the statutory charges for capital financing (Minimum Revenue Provision) and revenue
financing of capital expenditure are deducted as these are not chargeable under generally accepted practices, and changes in the fair value
of Investment properties are added.

e Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure — this line is credited with capital grants receivable in the year which have no
conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year.

Depreciation and amortisation charges are included in the service lines in the Net Expenditure chargeable to the General Fund balances column
of the Expenditure and Funding analysis (as they are included in reports to management), but then reversed out in Other Income and Expenditure
so they have no impact on council tax. The reversal is removed in the Other Income and expenditure line in the Adjustments for capital purposes
column above to ensure such charges are included in the surplus or deficit on the provision of services in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.

(2) Net change for the Pensions Adjustments

e for services - the removal of employer pension contributions and their replacement with current and past service costs
¢ for Financing and investment income and expenditure — the addition of net interest on the pensions defined benefit liability.

(3) Other Differences

¢ For Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure — adjustments to the general fund for changes in the fair value of pooled investment
funds.

e For Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure — timing differences between the income for council tax and non-domestic
rates (NDR) credited under statutory regulations and that recognised under generally accepted accounting practice.

e For services — the addition of the accumulated absences accrual representing annual and other leave due to staff at 315t March 2025
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SEGMENTAL INCOME

The net expenditure chargeable to the general fund balance in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis includes the following items on a segmental basis:

2024/25 2023/24* Restated
Depreciation, Revenues Depreciation, Revenues
amortisation from external amortisation from external
and impairment customers and impairment customers
d £000 f £000 d £000 f £000

Strategy 46 (873) 58 (445)
Built Environment 87 (1,489) 58 (1,284)
Finance 182 (3,161) 144 (2,501)
Nature Emergency - (204) - (174)
Sustainable Economy - (31) - (18)
Climate Emergency 9 (454) 9 (266)
Local Plan 30 (856) 47 (1,111)
Thriving Communities 11 (682) - (1,058)
Total included in cost of services 365 (7,750) 316 (6,857)
Financing & Investment income & Expenditure (42) (720)
Taxation and other Non-Specific Grant Income (62) (312)
Total included in Fees, Charges & other service income, plus Publica Contract Note 19 (7,854) (7,889)

* Restated due to a change in service analysis of continuing operations
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19. EXPENDITURE AND INCOME ANALYSED BY NATURE

The Council's expenditure and income is analysed as follows:

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000

Expenditure

Employee benefit expenses 3,452 1,042
Publica Contract 6,361 7,554
Other senvice expenses 29,417 32,307
Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 365 316
Revaluation losses on Property, Plant & Equipment (note 5) - 21
Investment Properties Changes in Fair Value (loss) 43 648
Changes in Fair Value of Investments (loss) 107 105
Interest payments 822 -
Precepts and levies 8,115 8,209
Total Expenditure 48,682 50,202
Income

Fees, charges and other senice income (7,331) (7,307)
Publica Contract (523) (582)
Right to Buy Income (see note 9) (371) (128)
Gain on disposal of non-current assets (see note 9) (35) -
Investment Properties Changes in Fair Value (gain) (449) (85)
Changes in Fair Value of Investments (gain) (102) (96)
Interest and investment income (1,881) (1,091)
Income from council tax and non-domestic rates (16,956) (16,567)
Government grants and contributions (23,476) (27,926)
Total Income (51,124) (53,782)
(Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services (2,442) (3,580)
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2023/24 2024/25
Other Vehicles, Infra- Community Surplus Assets Total Other Vehicles, Infra- Community Surplus Assets Total
Land and Plant and structure assets assets under Land and Plant and structure assets assets under
buildings equipment assets construction buildings equipment assets construction
£000 £000 £000 [ £000 £000 [ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 [ 000 [ g000 [ £000 £000
Cost or valuation
7,079 904 412 170 1,755 1,091 11,411|At 1st April 7,998 1,085 577 170[ 1,785 1,686 13,301
- 196 165 - - 595 956|Additions 395 1,572 - - - 259 2,226
Revaluation increases / (decreases)
942 - - - 31 - 973| recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 6 - - - 288 - 294
Revaluation increases / (decreases)
recognised in the surplus / deficit on
(23) - - - - - (23)| the provision of services - - - - - - -
- (15) - - - - (15)|Derecognition - disposals (200) (1,315) - - - - (1,515)
- - - - - - -|Other Reclassifications - - - - - - -
- - - - 1) - (1)|Other rounding adjustment - - - - - - -
7,998 1,085 577 170 1,785 1,686 13,301 At 31st March 8,199 1,342 577 170 2,073 1,945 14,306
Accumulated Depreciation and
Impairment
(214) (519) (207) - - - (940)|At 1st April (108) (619) (222) - - - (949)
(183) (115) (15) - - - (313)|Depreciation charge (226) (93) (42) - - - (361)
Depreciation written out to the
287 - - - - - 287| Revaluation Reserve 178 - - - - - 178
Depreciation written out to the
surplus / deficit on the provision of
2 - - - - - 2| services - - - - - - -
- 15 - - - - 15|Derecognition - disposals - - - - - - -
(108) (619) (222) - - - (949) (At 31st March (156) (712) (264) - - - (1,132)
7,890 466 355 170 1,785 1,686 12,352|Net Book Value at 31st March 8,043 630 313 170 2,073 1,945 13,174
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Depreciation

The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of depreciation:
¢ Buildings — 10 — 50 years, depending in the estimated useful life of the asset.
e Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment — between 1 and 10 years, depending on the estimated

useful life of the asset

e Infrastructure — 10 - 40 years.

Revaluation of Non-Current Assets

The Council formally re-values its land and buildings on a rolling programme to ensure they are revalued at
least every five years. Valuations at 31st March 2025 were carried out by Publica Group (Support) Limited
valuer Richard Webb MRICS. The basis of the valuations is shown in the Statement of Accounting Policies.

Vehicles Assets Total
Valued Land and Plant and Infra- Community Surplus Under Property
alued at Buildings Equipment structure Assets Assets Construction Assets
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Historic Cost - 1,325 577 170 - 1,945 4,017
Current Cost in:
2019/20 - 17 - - - - 17
2020/21 - - - - - - -
2021/22 - - - - - - -
2022/23 473 - - - - - 473
2023/24 4,432 - - - - - 4,432
2024/25 3,294 - - - 2,073 - 5,367
Total 8,199 1,342 577 170 2,073 1,945 14,306

Non-current assets owned by the Council include the following:

Number of assets held at 31 March

2025 2024

Other Land and Buildings:

Off Street Car Parks 18 18

Lorry Parks 1 1

Office Buildings 1 1

Public Conveniences 11 11

Cemetery Buildings 2 2

Swimming Pools 1 1
Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 32 26
Surplus Assets 16 16
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Componentisation

Under the Code the Council is required to account separately for expenditure on major building components
incurred from 1%t April 2010, so that they can be depreciated over their respective useful lives. No
components were identified in 2024/25.

Fair Value Measurement of surplus Assets

The fair values of surplus assets valued at 315t March 2025 have been based on a market approach using
current market conditions, recent sale prices and other relevant information for similar assets in the local
area. The level of observable inputs is therefore significant, leading to the properties being categorised as
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

21. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND CAPITAL FINANCING

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including the value
of assets acquired under finance leases), together with the resources that have been used to finance it.
Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as the assets are used by
the Council, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure
of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Council that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed
in the final part of this note.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000

Opening Capital Financing Requirement - -
Capital Investment:
Property Plant and Equipment 2,226 956
Investment Properties - 2,239
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 2,225 7,310
Right of Use Assets 581 -
Capital Receipts (1,413) (2,388)
Government grants and other contributions (2,666) (8,001)
Sums set aside from revenue:

Direct revenue contributions (372) (116)

Minimum Revenue Provision (56) -
Closing Capital Financing Requirement 525 -
Explanation of movements in year:
Increase in underlying need to borrow (unsupported by government financial - -
assistance)
Assets acquired under finance leases 525 -
Increasel/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 525 -

Commitments under capital contracts at 31t March 2025, the council was committed to completing the
schemes within its capital programme for 2025/26. A total of £303,847 had not been spent but was
contractually committed at 315t March 2025 (£1,879,995 at 31st March 2024).
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22. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The following items of income and expense have been accounted for in the Financing and Investment
Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Rental income from investment property 876 720
Direct operating expenses arising from investment property (151) (117)
Net gain/(loss) 725 603

There are no restrictions on the Council’s ability to realise the value inherent in its investment property or on
its right to the remittance of income and the proceeds of disposal. The Council has no contractual obligations
to purchase, construct, enhance or develop investment property, however some lease agreements require
the Council to repair and maintain properties.

The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment properties over the year.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Balance at start of year 10,665 8,989
Additions:
Purchases - 2,239
Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments 405 (563)
Balance at year-end 11,070 10,665

Fair Value measurement of Investment Properties

The fair values of Investment properties have been based on a market approach using current market
conditions, recent sale prices and other relevant information for similar assets in the local area. Where
existing rents have been capitalised, the yield has been obtained by using market knowledge and evidence.
The level of observable inputs is therefore significant, leading to the properties being categorised at Level 2
in the fair value hierarchy. In estimating the fair values of the Investment properties, the highest and best
use of the properties is their current use.
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23. ASSETS HELD UNDER LEASES

In 2024/25 the council applied IFRS16 Leases as required by the Code of Practice for Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom. The main impact of the new requirement is that for arrangements
previously accounted for as operating leases (i.e., without recognising the leased property as an asset and
future rents as a liability) a right of use asset and a lease liability are to be brought onto the balance sheet as
at 15t April 2024. Leases for items of low value and short-term leases are exempt from the new arrangements.

Council as Lessee

Right of Use Assets
Other
Land &
Buildings
£000
Balance at 1st April 62
Additions 519
Balance at 315t March 581
Transactions under leases
The authority incurred the following expenses and cash flows in relation to leases:
2024/25
£000
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Interest expense on lease liabilities 24
Expense relating to short term leases -
Expense relating to exempt leases of low value items -
Cash Flow Statement
Minimum lease payments 24
The future minimum lease payments for Right of Use assets in future years are:
2024/25
£000
Property, Plant & Equipment
Not later than 1 year 120
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 401
Later than 5 years -
521

Operating Leases

The Council has acquired a number of assets by entering into operating leases. In addition, the Council has
entered into long-term agreements with a number of local schools to operate leisure facilities in premises
owned by the schools, outside of the school opening hours. These agreements have been reviewed and it
has been determined these are effectively operating leases although no rental payments are made; instead
the Council contributes to the running costs of the premises. For accounting purposes, it has been decided

to disclose a notional payment of £1 per year per leisure centre.

FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL

61



STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25

The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable leases in future years are:

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Property, Plant & Equipment
Not later than 1 year 11 13
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 33 35
Later than 5 years 43 51
87 99

The expenditure charged to all service lines in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during
the year in relation to the Property, Plant & Equipment leases was £24,311 (£23,210 2023/24).

Council as Lessor

Finance Leases

The Council has leased a number of vehicles to Ubico Limited.

The Council has a gross investment in the lease, made up of the minimum lease payments expected to be
received over the remaining term and the residual value anticipated for the property when the lease comes
to an end. The minimum lease payments comprise settlement of the long-term debtor for the interest in the
vehicles acquired by the lessee and finance income that will be earned by the Council in future years whilst
the debtor remains outstanding. The gross investment is made up of the following amounts.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Finance lease debtor (net present value of minimum lease payments):
Current — payments due within 1 year 201 13
Non-current — payments due after 1 year 896 22
Unearned finance income 160 2
Gross investment in the lease 1,257 37

The gross investment in the lease and the minimum lease payments will be received over the following

periods:

Gross Investment in the

Minimum Lease Payments

Lease
2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000
Not later than 1 year 248 14 201 13
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 793 23 689 22
Later than 5 years 216 - 207 -
1,257 37 1,097 35

The Council has not set-aside an allowance for uncollectable debts in relation to its finance leases.

outstanding debts would be accounted for within the Sundry Debtors bad debt.

Any
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Operating Leases

The Council owns a number of properties it leases to other organisations under operating leases. Most of the
assets are held as Investment Properties. The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-

cancellable leases in future years are:

The minimum lease payments receivable does not include rents that are contingent on events taking place

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Not later than 1 year 539 593
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,314 1,468
Later than 5 years 824 911
2,677 2,972

after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following rent reviews.

24. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Balance at start of year:
Gross carrying amounts 70 70
Accumulated amortisation (62) (58)
Net carrying amount at start of year 8 12
Amortisation for the period (4) (4)
Net carrying amount at end of year 4 8
Comprising:
Gross carrying amounts 70 70
Accumulated amortisation (66) (62)
4 8
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following categories of financial instrument are carried on the Balance Sheet:

Long Term Current
2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000 £000 £000
Investments
Egg\:\v():lal assets at amortised cost (note 1 ) ) 3,005 3,022
;.)aur value through P&L — Pooled Funds (note 5,332 5336 52 56
Quoted Equity Investment (note 3) 1,320 1,906 15 14
Total Investments 6,652 7,242 3,072 3,092
Cash & cash equivalents
Financial assets at amortised cost - - 90 (1,476)
Fair value through P&L (note 4) - - 6,023 7,986
Total cash & cash equivalents - - 6,113 6,510
Debtors
Financial assets at amortised cost 1,533 279 1,300 583
Total included in debtors (note 5) 1,533 279 1,300 583
Total Financial Assets 8,185 7,521 10,485 10,185
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
Creditors (note 6) - - (2,654) (2,777)
Total Financial Liabilities - - (2,654) (2,777)

(1) These comprise deposits with banks and other local authorities and bank certificates of deposit.

(2) These comprise units in the CCLA pooled property fund purchased during 2017/18 and units in the Schroders Income
Maximising Fund and CCLA Diversified Income Fund, the carrying (fair) value of which has been assessed using
Level 1 inputs in the fair value hierarchy (quoted prices for identical units) at 31st March 2025.

(3) This comprises shares in Fundamentum Social Housing REIT (Real Estate Investment Trust) purchased during
2019/20

(4) These comprise money market funds that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to
insignificant risk of changes in value.

(5) Further details of current debtors are given in note 27, page 68. The figures shown above exclude payments in
advance and non-exchange transactions, such as taxes and grants due, which are not classified as financial
instruments.

(6) Further details of current creditors are given in note 29, page 69. The figures shown above exclude receipts in
advance, which are not classified as financial instruments.
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Income, Expense, gains and losses

2024/25 2023/24
Financial Financial Financial Flnaalnm
Liabilities Financial Assets Total Liabilities Financial Assets Total
measured Assets Available- measured Assets Availabl
at Loans and for-sale at Loans and e-for=
amortised | receivables amortised | receivables sale
cost cost
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Interest expense 2 - - - - - - -
Total expense in Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of 2 - - - - - - -
Services
Interest Income - (755) (250) (1,005) - (756) (257) (1,013)
Total Income in Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of - (755) (250) (1,005) - (756) (257) (1,013)
Services
(Net gain)/loss for the year 2 (755) (250) (1,003) - (756) (257) | (1,013)

Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities

Financial liabilities and financial assets (represented by loans and receivables) are carried on the balance
sheet at amortised cost. Their fair values can be assessed by calculating the present value of the cash flows
that will take place over the remaining term of the instruments. As the majority of the assets and liabilities are
instruments that will mature in the coming twelve months, the carrying amounts are deemed to approximate
to fair value. The fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed amount.

Financial assets (represented by Available-for-Sale assets) are carried on the balance sheet at fair value.
Where an instrument will mature in the next twelve months the fair value is assumed to be equal to its cost,
equal to its fair value on the purchase date. The valuation basis therefore uses Level 1 inputs in the fair value
hierarchy (i.e., quoted prices in an active market).

NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Key Risks
The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. The key risks are:

. credit risk — the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Council.

. liquidity risk — the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet its commitment to
make payments.

. re-financing risk — the possibility that the Council might be requiring to renew a financial instrument on
maturity at disadvantageous rates or terms.

. market risk — the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a result of changes in such
measures as interest rates.

The Council’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. Risk management
is carried out by the Treasury Officer under policies approved by the Council in the annual Treasury
Management Strategy. The Council provides written principles for risk management, as well as written
policies covering specific areas such as interest rate risk, credit risk and the investment of surplus cash.
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Credit risk

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to the
Council’s customers. This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which requires that
deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they meet identified minimum credit criteria
in accordance with Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s ratings services. The Annual Investment
Strategy also considers maximum amounts and time limits in respect of each financial institution. Deposits
are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they meet the minimum requirements of the
investment criteria outlined above. The full Investment Strategy for 2024/25 was approved by Council on
22nd February 2024 and is available on the Council’s website.

The Council used the creditworthiness services of Arlingclose Limited during 2024/25. The maximum
investment that could be made with an approved UK counterparty was £3 million, and with an approved non-
UK counterparty £2 million. No breaches of the Council’s counterparty criteria occurred during the reporting
period and the Council does not expect any losses from non-performance by any of its counterparties.

The Council’'s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments of £16.124m cannot be assessed
generally as the risk of any institution failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum will be
specific to each individual institution. Recent experience has shown that it is rare for such entities to be unable
to meet their commitments. A risk of default applies to all of the Council’s investments but there was no
evidence at 31 March 2025 that this was likely to crystallise.

The following analysis summarises the Council’'s potential maximum exposure to credit risk (using
investments outstanding and arranged at 315 March 2025), based on experience of default assessed by the
ratings agencies and the Council’s experience of its customer collection levels over the last five financial
years and adjusted to reflect current market conditions.

Adjustment
for market Estimated
Amount at Historical conditions at maximum
31 March experience 31 March exposure to
2025 of default 2025 Default
£000 % % £000
(a) (b) (c) (a*c)
Deposits with banks and financial institutions
AA rated counterparties (UKGov) 1,000 - - -
A rated counterparties 6,340 4.20 0.52 33
Local Authorities (UKLA) 2,005 - - -
Credit risk not applicable* 6,718 - - -
16,063 33

*credit risk is not applicable to pooled funds where the Council has no contractual right to receive any particular sum of money

Loss allowances on treasury investments have been calculated by reference to historic default data published
by credit rating agencies, multiplied by 52% (2024: 86%) to adjust for current and forecast economic
conditions.

The Council also uses non-credit rated institutions, such as smaller building societies or bank subsidiaries
where the parent has a satisfactory rating. In these circumstances, these investments are classified as Other
Counterparties.

No breaches of the Council’s counterparty criteria occurred during the reporting period and the Council does
not expect any losses from non-performance by any of its counterparties in relation to deposits and bonds.
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The Council does not generally allow credit for its trade debtors as payment is due immediately. This means
that all of the £592,091 trade debtor balance is technically past its due date for payment. The past due
amount can be analysed by age as follows:

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Less than 3 months 490 247
3 to 6 months 4 23
6 months to 1 Year 43 29
Over 1 year 55 35
592 334

Liquidity risk

The Council has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash is available
as needed. If needed, the Council has ready access to borrowings from the money markets and the Public
Works Loan Board. There is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise the finance to meet its
commitments under financial instruments. The Council has no long-term borrowings, and all trade and other
payables are due to be paid in less than one year.

Interest rate risk

The Council has limited exposure to interest rate movements on its investments. Movements in interest rates
have a complex impact on the Council depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across
differing financial instrument periods. For instance, a rise in variable and fixed interest rates will have the
following impacts:

° for investments held at variable rates higher interest income will be credited to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement

. Investments held at fixed rates will experience a fall in their fair values.

The Council has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk. The Annual Treasury Management
Strategy draws together the Council’s prudential indicators and its expected treasury operations and includes
an expectation of interest rate movements. From this strategy, a prudential indicator is set which provides
maximum and minimum limits for fixed and variable interest rate exposure. The Treasury team monitors
market and forecast interest rates within the year to adjust exposures appropriately.

If all interest rates had been 1% higher during 2024/25, with all other variables held constant, the financial
effect would be:

£
Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments 129,668
Impact on Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 129,668

The impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be as above but with the movements being reversed.
Price risk
The Council, excluding the pension fund, does not generally invest in instruments with this type of risk.

Foreign exchange risk

The Council has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. It therefore has no
exposure to loss arising from movements in exchange rates.
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26. INVENTORIES

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Waste wheeled bins 53 68
Other Inventories 38 8
Total Inventories 91 76
27. DEBTORS
LONG TERM DEBTORS During 2024/25
Repayments/
31 March 2024| Additions Write Offs |31 March 2025
£000 £000 £000 £000
Refuse/Recycling Vehicles 244 - (195) 49
Finance Lease - principle outstanding 35 1,315 (163) 1,187
Long Term Loans - 300 (3) 297
279 1,615 (361) 1,533
SHORT TERM DEBTORS 2024125 2023/24
£000 £000
Debtors falling due within one year:
Central Government bodies 2,051 1,804
Other Local Authorities 1,486 1,755
NHS bodies 24 44
Other entities and individuals 4,030 3,765
Prepayments 665 433
Total Debtors and Prepayments 8,256 7,801
Less Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts:
Other entities and individuals (948) (1,113)
Collection Fund (364) (291)
Total Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts (1,312) (1,404)
Net Debtors and Prepayments 6,944 6,397
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Short term Deposits 318 56
Money Market Funds 6,022 7,986
Bank Current Accounts (228) (1,532)
Total cash and cash equivalents 6,112 6,510
29. SHORT TERM CREDITORS
2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Creditors falling due within one year:
Central Government bodies 118 536
Local Authorities 818 2,001
Other entities and individuals 3,670 3,481
Untaken Leave Accruals 59 8
Total Short Term Creditors 4,665 6,026
30. PROVISIONS
Balance at Additional Amounts Balance at
1st April provisions used in Year | 31st March
£000 made in Year £000 £000
£000
Short term
General Insurance (1) - - (1)
Business Rates Retention —Appeals (240) (181) 21 (400)
Total 2024/25 (241) 181 21 (401)
Total 2023/24 (174) (131) 64 (241)

General Insurance

The Insurance Provision was established to fund the cost of insurance policy excesses arising from claims
against the Council by third parties. The provision represents the value of an assessment of the Council’s
liability in respect of the current insurance claims outstanding with the Council’s insurers. Transfers between
the Insurance Provision and the Insurance Reserve are made in order to provide adequate funding for the
outstanding claims liability notified by the insurance company.

The insurance reserve is used to fund losses for which the Council does not carry insurance cover,
fluctuations in insurance premiums and corporate risk management strategy implementation.
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Business Rates Retention

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced a business rates retention scheme that enables local
authorities to retain a proportion of the business rates generated in their area. The new arrangements for the
retention of business rates came into effect on 1%t April 2013.

From this date local authorities assume a share of the liability for refunding ratepayers who have successfully
appealed against the rateable value of their properties on the rating list. This includes amounts paid over to
central government in respect of 2012/13 and prior years. Consequently, the Council considers it necessary
to make a provision to cover its share of the repayments likely to be made. This provision has been set up to
meet losses arising from the successful appeal of businesses against the rateable value of their properties.

For appeals up to 31st March 2017 (2010 list) and 31st March 2023 (2017 list), the provision is based on an
expected success rate of appeals submitted at 31st March 2017 and an estimated reduction in rateable value.

Appeals from 1st April 2017 onwards (2017 list), are subject to a new process known as Check, Challenge,
Appeal. As yet there is limited information upon which to base an estimate of the provision necessary under
the new process, so the estimated provision has been based on 2% of the Rating list (2017) as at 31st March
2023. This figure has then been averaged out with the figure produced by applying the 2010 list process to
the actual appeals under the Check, Challenge, and Appeal process.

For appeals from 1st April 2024 onwards (2023 list), there is still limited information upon which to base an
estimate of the provision necessary.

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Two Rivers Housing

The Council transferred its housing stock to Two Rivers Housing on 315t March 2003. As part of the transfer
arrangements the Council provided a warranty to Two Rivers Housing and its funders covering future
liabilities or claims that may occur in respect of land transferred to them. The warranty covers potential
liabilities such as contamination caused by previous land use which could give rise to a potential risk to the
occupants of houses built on the land.

The Council decided to self-insure the liability instead of paying for insurance cover following an
environmental study that concluded that the risk of contamination of the land is very low. These arrangements
will be kept under review in 2025/26.
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32. TRANSFERS TO / FROM EARMARKED RESERVES

Movements in the Council’s usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement on page

19. Movements in the earmarked reserves shown on the statement are detailed below:

Balance at
31 March 2023
£000

Transfers out
2023/24
£000

Transfers in
2023/24
£000

Balance at
31 March 2024
£000

Transfers out
2024/25
£000

Transfers in
2024/25
£000

Balance at
31 March 2025
£000

Earmarked Reserves

Capital Reserves 686 - 130 816 - 55 871
Equalisation Reserves 2,481 (210) 1,050 3,321 (499) 370 3,192
Repairs & Renewals Reserves 1,648 (267) 260 1,641 (275) 373 1,739
Reserves for Commitments 39 (39) - - - - -
Other Earmarked Reserves 4,038 (721) 1,300 4,617 (1,285) 957 4,289
Covid 19 Timing Reserves 380 (364) - 16 (16) - -
Third Party Reserves 2,348 (331) 648 2,665 (625) 363 2,403
Total 11,620 (1,932) 3,388 13,076 (2,700) 2,118 12,494

Purpose of reserves

Capital Reserves — to finance the general fund capital programme and new initiatives.

Equalisation Reserves — to smooth out fluctuations in expenditure or income as a result of cyclical events,
for example local elections. Also, to cushion the impact of fluctuating activity levels (for example housing
benefit payments) or movements in investment recovery, interest or exchange rates.

Repairs and Renewals Reserves — to meet the cost of planned and reactive repairs to buildings and
infrastructure and to fund the renewals programme for computer equipment.

Reserves for Commitments — to cover the cost of budget commitments where spending did not take place
in the year approved, but is planned to take place in the following year.

Other Earmarked Reserves — sums built up to cover the future costs of planned expenditure, for example
organisational restructures and council initiatives.

Covid-19 Timing Reserves — created to manage government funding relating to ongoing Covid-19 costs.

Third Party Reserves — This is monies held by the Council on behalf of other parties in order to deliver
priorities of the Council.

FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL 71



STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25

33. UNUSABLE RESERVES

The Council keeps a number of reserves on the Balance Sheet which do not represent usable resources
for the Council as they are required to be held for statutory reasons, or to comply with proper accounting.

31st March 2025 | 31st March 2024

Reserve £000 £000 Purpose of Reserve

Revaluation Reserve 5,558 5,211 | Store of gains on revaluation of non-
current assets not yet realised through
sales.

Financial Instruments Store of gains and losses arising from

Revaluation Reserve (856) (270) | changes in the fair value of Available-for-
Sale financial assets not yet realised
through sales.

Pooled Investment Funds Store of gains and losses arising from

Adjustment Account (492) (488) | changes in the fair value of pooled
investment funds since 1st April 2018

Capital Adjustment Account 18,809 17,814 | Store of capital resources set aside to
meet past expenditure.

Collection Fund Adjustment (177) (502) | Balancing account to allow for differences

Account in statutory requirements and proper
accounting practices for council tax
surpluses/deficits.

Pensions Reserve (3,093) (19,804) | Balancing account to allow inclusion of
Pension Liability in the Balance Sheet.

Deferred Capital Receipts 1,387 35 | Holds the gains recognised on the

Reserve disposal of non-current assets but for
which cash settlement has yet to take
place.

Accumulated Absences Account (59) (8) | Balancing account to allow for differences
in statutory requirements and proper
accounting practices for staff leave and
additional hours not taken at the year end.

Total Unusable Reserves 21,077 1,988
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Revaluation Reserve

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Council arising from increases in the value of its
property, plant and equipment. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are:

o re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost.
o used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation.
. disposed of and the gains are realised.

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 13 April 2007, the date that the Reserve was
created. Accumulated gains arising before that date were consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000

Balance at 15t April 5,211 4,035
Upward revaluation of assets 503 1,438
Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the

Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services (31) (178)
Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost depreciation written

off to Capital Adjustment Account (125) (83)
Other — Rounding Adjustment - (1)
Balance at 315t March 5,558 5,211

Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve

The Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve contains gains arising from increases in the value of
investments that have quoted market prices or otherwise do not have fixed or determinable payments. The
balance is reduced when investments with accumulated gains are revalued downwards or impaired and the
gains are lost, or when the investments are disposed of and the gains realised.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Balance at 15t April (270) (296)
Upward revaluation of investments - 26
Downward revaluation of investments (586) -
Balance at 315t March (856) (270)

Pooled Investment Funds Adjustment Account

This reserve contains gains and losses on pooled funds arising from changes in their fair value from 1t April
2018. Such changes are initially charged to the surplus or deficit in the provision of services but reversed
out to this reserve by a statutory override in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Balance at 15t April (488) (479)
Downwards revaluation of investments (107) (9)
Upward revaluation of investments 103 -
Balance at 315t March (492) (488)
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Capital Adjustment Account

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for
accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or
additions to those assets under statutory provisions. The account is debited with the cost of acquisition,
construction or subsequent costs as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the
CIES (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert current and fair value figures to a
historical cost basis). The account is credited with amounts set aside by the Council as finance for the costs
of acquisition, construction and subsequent costs.

The account contains accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties. The account also contains
revaluation gains accumulated on Property Plant and Equipment before 15t April 2007, the date that the
Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. Note 5 provides details of the source of all the
transactions posted to the account apart from those involving the Revaluation Reserve.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000

Balance at 15t April 17,814 15,437
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to CIES:

Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current Assets (361) (313)

Revaluation losses on Property Plant & Equipment - (21)

Amortisation of Intangible Assets (4) (4)

Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute (2,225) (7,310)

Amounts of Non-current Assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss (1,515) -

on disposal to CIES
Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve 125 83
Net written out amount of the cost of Non-current Assets consumed in year (3,980) (7,565)
Capital financing applied in the year:

Use of Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 1,413 2,388

Capital grants and contributions credited to CIES that have been applied to capital

financing 2,131 7,312

Application of grants to capital financing from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account 535 689

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged against

the General Fund 56 -

Donated Asset (Leased) 62 -

Capital expenditure charges against the General Fund 372 116
Movements in the market value of Investment Properties debited or credited to CIES 405 (563)
Rounding 1 -
Financing and movement in the market value of Investment properties in year 4,975 9,942
Balance at 315t March 18,809 17,814
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Collection Fund Adjustment Account

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of council tax
income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account (CIES) as it falls due from council taxpayers,
compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection
Fund.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Balance at 1°! April (502) (483)
Amount by which council tax income credited to the CIES is different from council tax
. . : A 325 (19)
income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory reuirements
Balance at 31°' March (177) (502)

Pension Reserve

The Pension Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting
for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The Council
accounts for post-employment benefits in the CIES as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years
of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns
on the resources set aside to meet the costs.

However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Council makes employer’s
contributions to pension funds, or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible. The debit
balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and
current employees and the resources the Council has set aside to meet them. The statutory arrangements
will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. Further information
is shown within note 34 on page 76.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000

Balance at 1%t April (19,804) (13,995)
Re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability 15,739 (7,746)
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits charged or credited to the
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income (1,689) (693)
and Expenditure Statement ’
Employers’ pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable 2,661 2,630
in the year
Balance at 315t March (3,093) (19,804)
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Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve

This comprises capital receipts receivable in future years, for example from finance leases and mortgage
repayments, which are not usable until they are received.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Balance at 15t April 35 48
Transfer of deferred sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on disposal 1,515 -
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Transfer to the Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of cash (163) (13)
Balance at 315t March 1,387 35

Accumulated Absences Account

This account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund balance from
accruing for leave earned but not taken. Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the general
Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the account. During 2024/25 sixty eight members of
staff transferred back to the Council from Publica Group (Support) Limited.

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Balance at 15t April (8) (7)
Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the preceding year 8 7
Amounts accrued at the end of the current year (59) (8)
Balance at 315t March (59) (8)

34. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION SCHEMES

Participation in the pension scheme

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and members, the Council makes
contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be
payable until employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the payments that needs to be
disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement.

The Council is a member of the Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund, for which Gloucestershire
County Council is the administering authority. It is contracted out of the State Second Pension. The scheme
is a defined benefit statutory scheme that is administered in accordance with the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended). This means that the Council and employees pay contributions into
a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions’ liabilities with investment assets.

The principal risks to the authority of the pension scheme are the longevity assumptions, statutory changes
to the scheme, structural changes to the scheme (i.e., large-scale withdrawals from the scheme), changes
to inflation, bond yields and the performance of equity investments held by the scheme. These are mitigated
to a certain extent by the statutory requirements to charge to the General Fund the amounts required by
statute, as described in the accounting policies note 1.3 on page 22.
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Publica Group (Support) Limited

During 2017/18 the Council transferred the majority of its staff under TUPE legislation to Publica Group
(Support) Limited, a wholly owned local authority company, limited by guarantee, operating with Mutual
Trading Status to deliver services on behalf of the Council. The pension fund disclosure notes on the
following pages include the staff transferred to Publica. All staff are pooled as the Council continues to
underwrite the pension liabilities on the whole scheme. On the 15t November 2024 68 Publica employees
transferred back to the Council and have been enrolled in the Local Government Pension Scheme.

2023/24 to 2025/26 Up-Front Payment of Pension Scheme Deficit Contributions

In 2023/24 the Council made an up-front payment of the LGPS deficit contributions for the three years
2023/24 to 2025/26 totalling £4.895 million. The up-front payment took advantage of the independent
actuary’s calculation of the return these contributions could achieve once invested by the Pension Fund.

Actual payments made in 2024/25 were £2.611 million, which included the 2024/25 element of the £4.895
million up-front payment.

The discount calculated by the actuary for making the up-front payment rather than the normal method of
monthly payments in arrears over the three-year period was £0.301 million, reducing total payments from
£5.196 million to £4.895 million. The equivalent discounted annual Lump sums certified across the 3 years,
are calculated to be, as follows:

o £1.791 million relating to 2023/24
e £1.628 million relating to 2024/25
e £1.476 million relating to 2025/26

The return was judged to be far greater than could have been achieved by investing the amounts as part of
the Council’s treasury management strategy, so the decision represented good value for money for the
Council.

Transactions relating to post-employment benefits

The Council recognises the costs of retirement benefits in the Net Cost of Services when they are earned by
employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge required to
be made against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of retirement benefits
is reversed out of the General Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS). The following
transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) and the
General Fund Balance via the MIRS during the year:
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Pension Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Council’s obligation in respect of its defined benefit
plan is as follows:

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES):
Services Cost comprising:

Current service cost (860) (771)

Past service costs/gain (31) -
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure:

Net interest expense (798) 78
Total post-employment benefit charged to Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Service (1,689) (693)
Other post-employment benefit charged to CIES:

Re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability comprising:

Changes in financial assumptions 10,448 3,152

Changes in demographic assumptions 130 456

Other experience 781 (2,368)

Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the net interest expense) (288) 4,925

Changes in the effect of the asset ceiling 4,668 (13,911)
Total remeasurements recognised in other Comprehensive Income 15,739 (7,746)
Total post-employment benefit charged to CIES 14,050 (8,439)
Movement in Reserves Statement:

Reversal of net charges made to Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services for post-
employment benefits in accordance with the Code 1,689 11,095
Actual amount charged against General Fund Balance for pensions in the year
Employers’ contributions payable to scheme 2,661 2,630
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2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Present value of the defined benefit obligation (63,011) (74,966)
Fair value of plan assets 86,746 85,368
Asset Ceiling Calculation::-
Expected net asset agreed past senice contributions are paid - (28,302)
Economic benefit available as a reduction in future contributions (1,617) 1,200
Net asset/(liability) arising from defined benefit obligation 22,118 (16,700)
Split by funding:
2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Net Asset/(Liability) - Funded 23,735 (14,846)
Net Asset/(Liability) - Unfunded (1,617) (1,854)
Net asset/(liability) arising from defined benefit obligation 22,118 (16,700)

In 2024/25 the change in bank interest rates led to a significant increase in the net discount rate applied to
pension fund obligations. A consequence of this is that when combined with the up-front payment of £3.104
million made by the authority, the actuarial calculations produce a surplus of £22.118 million.

Accounting standards IAS19 and IFRIC 14 require that subject to certain conditions, 'the surplus should be
recognised as an asset on the employer’s Balance Sheet' but only to the extent that an employer can gain
an economic benefit from it.

IFRIC 14 stipulates that a ‘Minimum Funding Requirement’ may limit the ability of the entity to reduce future
contributions. In effect it requires employers to establish if they are subject to a minimum funding requirement
and if so carry out a calculation to determine the 'cap' on the amount that can be recognised.

To calculate the 'Cap' an actuarial calculation has been carried out of 'the net present value of future service
costs less net present value of future contributions, in perpetuity’, based on the IAS19 Results Schedule as
at 31 March 2025 for the Council.
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This calculation has shown that there is technically a cap of £0k and therefore the onerous funding
commitment/additional liability calculation has been made and processed through the calculations. This has
therefore meant that an additional liability has been created for the onerous funding commitments that the

Council has. This is as follows:

2024/25
£000
Net Asset/(Liability) - unadjusted 23,735
Expected net asset once agreed past senice contributions are paid 23,735
Effect of the asset ceiling (23,735)
Net Asset/(Liability) -
Therefore, split of funding is as follows:
2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Net Liability - Funded - (14,846)
Net Liability - Unfunded (1,617) (1,854)
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation (1,617) (16,700)
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Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities (defined benefit obligations)

Funded Liabilities Local
Government Pension Scheme
2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Balance at 15 April (74,966) (75,228)
Current service cost (860) (771)
Past Service Costs (31) -
Interest cost (3,536) (3,514)
Contributions by scheme participants (285) (225)
Re-measurement gain/(loss):
Arising from changes in financial assumptions 10,448 3,152
Arising from changes in demographic assumptions 130 456
Other experience 781 (2,368)
Benefits paid 3,533 3,379
Unfunded benefits paid 158 153
Balance 31°' March (64,628) (74,966)
Present value of Funded liabilities (63,011) (73,112)
Present value of Unfunded liabilities (1,617) (1,854)
Balance 31°' March (64,628) (74,966)

FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL 81



STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25

Reconciliation of movements in the fair value of the scheme (Plan) assets:

Funded Assets Local
Government Pension Scheme

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Opening fair value of scheme assets 85,368 74,424
Interest income 4,039 3,592

Re-measurement gain/(loss):
Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the net interest expense) (288) 4,925
Other Experience

Cashflows

Contribution by employees into the scheme 285 225
Contribution by employer 875 5,581
Contributions by employer in respect of unfunded benefits 158 153
Unfunded benefits paid (158) (153)
Benefits paid (3,533) (3,379)
Closing fair value of scheme assets as at 31°' March 86,746 85,368
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Basis for estimating assets and liabilities

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of
the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent upon assumptions about mortality rates, salary
levels, etc.

The Gloucestershire County Council pension fund liabilities have been assessed by Hymans Robertson LLP,
an independent firm of actuaries, estimates for the fund being based on the latest full triennial valuation of
the scheme as at 315t March 2022. The significant assumptions made in their calculations have been:

Local Government
Pension Scheme
2024/25 2023/24
Mortality assumptions:
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners
Men 21.5 years 21.6 years
Women 24.0 years 24.1 years
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners™
Men 22.4 years 22.5 years
Women 25.7 years 25.7 years
Rate of inflation/pension increase (CPI) 2.80% 2.80%
Rate of increase in salaries 3.30% 3.30%
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 5.80% 4.80%

* Future pensioner numbers assume members aged 45 as at the time of last formal valuation date.

FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL 83



STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25

Local Government Pension scheme assets at 315t March comprised:

Fair Value of Scheme Assets 2024/25 Fair Value of Scheme Assets 2023/24
Quoted pricesin  Quoted prices not Quoted pricesin  Quoted prices not
Asset Category active markets in active markets Total active markets in active markets Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Equity Securities:
Consumer - - - - - -
Manufacturing - - - - - -
Energy & Utilities - - - - - -
Financial institutions - - - - - -
Health & Care - - - - - -
Information Technology - - - - - -
Other - - - - - -

Debt Securities:
Corporate Bonds - investment grade - - - - - -
Corporate Bonds - non investment grade - - - - - -
UK Government - - - - - -
Other - - - - - -

Private equity:
All - 2,483.7 2,483.7 - 2,042.4 2,042.4

Real Estate:
UK Property 2,884.6 2,366.4 5,251.0 3,084.9 2,173.6 5,258.5
Owerseas property - 1,615.0 1,615.0 - 1,669.5 1,669.5

Investment Funds and Unit Trusts:
Equities - 52,773.4 52,773.4 - 51,496.7 51,496.7
Bonds 6,244.3 8,765.5 15,009.8 6,252.4 9,182.0 15,434.4
Infrastructure - 4,711.6 4,711.6 - 3,568.6 3,568.6
Other - 3,696.4 3,696.4 - 3,709.6 3,709.6

Derivatives:
Foreign Exchange 64.0 - 64.0 83.5 - 83.5
Other - - - - - -

Cash & Cash equivalents:
All 1,141.1 - 1,141.1 2,104.8 - 2,104.8

Totals 10,334.0 76,412.0 86,746.0 11,525.6 73,842.4 85,368.0

The Local Government Pension Scheme’s assets consist of the following categories by proportion
of the total assets held:

2024/25 2023/24
£000 £000
Equity Investments 64 67
Bonds 17 18
Property 8 12
Cash 1 3
Other 10 0
100 100
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Commutation

An allowance is included for members of the pension fund retiring in the future retirements to elect to take
50% of the maximum additional tax-free cash up to HMRC limits.

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) Equalisation

The impact of full GMP indexation has been allowed for in the calculation of the latest funding valuation
results. The funding valuation results are used as the starting point for the accounting roll forward calculations
and therefore an allowance for full GMP indexation has already been included in the accounting disclosure.

McCloud/Sargeant treatment
An allowance has been made for the McCloud judgement.
Goodwin treatment

Work undertaken to assess the potential impact of this ruling indicates that any such impact would be very
small for a typical fund. As such no allowance has been made.

Other court cases

We are also aware of the following court cases, which may also impact LGPS benefits in the future:
* Walker;
* O'Brien;

It is our understanding these are unlikely to be significant judgements in terms of impact on the pension
obligations of a typical employer. As a result, and until further guidance is released from the relevant
governing bodies in the LGPS, we have not made any allowance for the potential remedies to these
judgements.

Local Government Devolution

In December 2024, the UK Government published the English Devolution White Paper, outlining significant
proposals aimed at expanding the powers of regional mayors, reorganising local government structures, and
providing financial incentives to support local economies.

No allowance has been made for the potential impact to the Employer of these proposals within this Results
Schedule. Any implications will be assessed and incorporated in future valuations and financial statements
as more details become available.

Sensitivity analysis

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the tables
above. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the
assumptions occurring at the 31t March 2025, and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed
changes whilst all other assumptions remain constant. The methods and types of assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change from those used in the previous financial year.

Approximate % increase to | Approximate monetary

Change in assumptions at 31 March 2025: Defined Benefit Obligation amount (£000)

0.1% decrease in Real Discount Rate 2% 991
1 year increase in member life expectancy 4% 2,585
0.1% increase in the Salary Increase Rate 0% 50
Increase/Revaluation Rate (CPI) 1% 967
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Impact on the Council’s Cash Flows

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employer’s contributions at as constant a rate as possible. Funding
levels are monitored on an annual basis, with the most recent triennial valuation having taken place on 31%
March 2022. The Council is anticipated to pay primary employers contributions of approximately £836k for

the period 15! April 2025 to 315t March 2026.

35.
PROVISION OF SERVICES

CASH FLOW STATEMENT — NON-CASH ITEMS INCLUDED IN SURPLUS OR DEFICIT ON THE

The cash flows from operating activities include the following items:

2024/25 2024/25
£000 £000
Interest received (1,046) (1,013)
Interest paid 25 -

The surplus on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following non-cash movements:

2024/25 | 2023/24
£000 £000
Depreciation (361) (313)
Impairment and downward valuations - (21)
Amortisation (4) (4)
Movement in bad debt provision 165 31
Increase (-) / decrease in creditors (401) 2,409
Increase / decrease (-) in debtors 2,964 (1,937)
Increase / decrease (-) in inventories 15 13
Movement in pension liability (656) 5,041
Other non cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit
on the provision of services 241 (638)
| 1,963 ] 4,581

The surplus on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following financing activities:

2024/25 | 2023/24
£000 £000
Proceeds from the sale of PPE, investment property and intangible assets 371 128
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36. CASH FLOW STATEMENT - INVESTING ACTIVITIES

2024/25 | 2023/24
£000 £000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment
property and intangible assets 2,320 3,338
Purchase of Investments 82,080 52,100
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment,
investment property and intangible assets (534) (141)
Proceeds from the sale of short and long term investments (82,080)( (53,600)
Other receipts from Investing activities (247) -
Net cash (inflows) / outflows from investing activites 1,539 1,697
37. CASH FLOW STATEMENT - FINANCING ACTIVITIES
2024/25 | 2023/24
£000 £000
Other (receipts) / payments for financing activities 1,033 1,956
Net cash flows from financing activites 1,033 1,956
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THE COLLECTION FUND - INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

This account reflects the statutory requirement for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund.
It shows the transactions in relation to Business Rates and Council Tax and how these have been distributed
to the Government, major preceptors and the General Fund.

2023/24 Note 2024/25
£000 £000
INCOME
66,462 Council Tax 1 70,441
13,751 Non-Domestic Rates 3 15,083
2,985 Transitional protection payments - non domestic rates 1,593
2,150 Contribution towards previous year's deficit - non-domestic rates 1,863

Impairment of debts/appeals for Council Tax

- Decrease in provision 15
85,348 Total Income 88,995
EXPENDITURE

Precepts & Demands from major preceptors and the

64,846 Authority - Council Tax 2 69,226
Non-Domestic Rates 3

9,066 Shares paid to county council and the billing authority 8,248

9,066 Payment of central share to government 8,248

121 Charge payable to General Fund for Costs of Collection 121

315 Other transfers to General Fund per the NDR regulations 439

Impairment of debts/appeals for Council Tax
224 Increase in provision -

Impairment of debts/appeals for non-domestic rates

398 Increase in provision 657
1,298 Contribution towards previous year's surplus - Council Tax 1,275
85,334 Total Expenditure 88,214
14 Surplus / (Deficit) for the Year 781

17 Balance of fund at 1st April 31

31 Balance of fund at 31st March 4 812
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NOTES TO THE COLLECTION FUND

1.  COUNCIL TAX

Council Tax is levied as an amount per property. Each property is allocated to a tax band depending on its
assessed value, with Z being the lowest value and H being the highest. For the purposes of creating a tax
base, each band is defined as a proportion of a band D property. For example, a band B property is defined
as 7/9ths of a band D property.

The tax base is calculated in terms of band D equivalent properties and reflects a projected collection rate
(98.5%) which anticipates changes during the year arising from successful appeals against valuation
banding, new properties, demolition, disabled persons relief and exemptions.

The tax rate, expressed as an amount per band D property, is calculated by aggregating demands on the
Collection Fund from Forest of Dean District Council, Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucestershire Police
and Crime Commissioner and the various Parish Councils throughout the district and dividing it by the tax
base.

The tax base for 2024/25 was as follows:

UTTEE G Proportion to
Band chargeable Bp Band D equivalent Tax base
- and D
dwellings
Z 11.61 5/9 6.45 6.37
A 4,310.46 6/9 2,873.64 2,837.72
B 8,085.52 7/9 6,288.74 6,210.13
C 7,758.65 8/9 6,896.58 6,810.38
D 5,428.48 1 5,428.48 5,360.63
E 4,261.33 11/9 5,208.29 5,143.19
F 2,024.32 13/9 2,924.02 2,887.45
G 974.19 15/9 1,623.65 1,603.35
H 72.12 2 144.24 142.45
Armgd Forces Class O contribution in lieu of 170.33 170.33
council tax
Council Tax base at 31st March 2025 31,564.41 31,172.00
Council tax collectable (excluding Parish £65,888,256
Precepts)
Parish Precepts collectable £3,329,389
Total tax collectable £69,217,645
Band D tax for 2024/25 (excluding Parish £2.113.70
Precepts)
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2. PRECEPTS AND DEMANDS

Significant precepts on the fund for 2024/25 were as follows:

3. BUSINESS RATES

Precept Surplus Total

£000 £000 £000
Gloucestershire County Council 49,870 917 50,787
Gloucestershire Police & Crime Commissioner 9,603 177 9,780
Forest of Dean District Council and Parishes 9,745 181 9,926
Special Precepts 8 - 8
69,226 1,275 70,501

Under the arrangements for uniform business rates, the Council collects non-domestic rates for its area based
on local rateable values multiplied by a uniform rate set by the government. Certain reliefs are available, and
the figure shown is net of these reliefs. Up until 2012/13 the total amount collectible for the year, less
deductions for the cost of collection and bad and doubtful debts, was paid to a central pool (NNDR pool)
managed by central government, which in turn paid back to authorities’ general funds their share of the pool
based on a standard amount per head.

From 1t April 2013 the Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced a business rates retention scheme
that enables local authorities’ general funds to retain a proportion of the business rates generated in their
area, subject to their general funds paying a ‘tariff payment to the government if the amount exceeds a
‘baseline funding’ level or receiving of a ‘top-up’ if it is below the funding level.

District Councils such as Forest of Dean receive 40%, County Councils 10% and central government 50% of
business rates collectible, with write offs, provision for impairment of debts and any surplus or deficit
generated being shared in the same proportions. If growth exceeds a certain threshold, then the Council’s
general fund must pay a ‘levy’ to central government on the extra growth, or if the rates collectible fall below
a certain amount the Council receives a ‘safety net’ payment from the government.

The Council is a member of the Gloucestershire Business Rates Pool, in which any levy payment or safety
receipt is ‘pooled’ across several authorities. This enables each pool member to benefit from a lower levy rate
payable should the growth in its business rates exceed its levy threshold, whilst receiving from the pool a
safety net payment should its rates fall below its safety net threshold, contributed by the pool member.

In 2024/25 the authority benefited from a Pool distribution of £439,363 (£357,446 in 2023/24).

The total non-domestic rateable value at 315t March 2025 was £51.64 million (£51.47 million at 315 March
2024) and the national non-domestic multipliers for 2024/25 were 54.6p (51.2p in 2023/24) (standard rate) and
49.9p (49.9p in 2023/24) (small business rate), resulting in income of £15.08 million in 2024/25 (£13.75 million
in 2023/24).
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4. FUND BALANCE

The fund balance for council tax is shared between the Council and its major precepting authorities
(Gloucestershire County Council and the Gloucestershire Police & Crime Commissioner), in proportion to
their precepts. The fund balance for non-domestic rates is shared between the Council, Gloucestershire
County Council and central government, in the statutory proportions.

The respective authorities’ share of the balance is as follows:

Council Tax
Central
FODDC CoEmty Police share | Government Total
share Council share
share
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1st April 292 1,495 288 - 2,075
Increase (reduction) in the Year (6) (32) (7) - (45)
Balance at 31st March 286 1,463 281 - 2,030
Business Rates
Central
FODDC CoEmty Police share | Government Total
share Council share
share
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1st April (818) (204) - (1,022) (2,044)
Increase (reduction) in the Year 331 82 - 413 826
Balance at 31st March (487) (122) - (609) (1,218)
Balance at 31st March (201) 1,341 281 (609) 812
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GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS

ACCOUNTING CODE OF PRACTICE

Although the preparation and control of accounting is regulated, there is no statutory basis for accounting
entries. Instead, Local Authorities have to comply with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local
authority accounting in the United Kingdom (The Code).

ACCOUNTING PERIOD
This is the length of time covered by the accounts. It is normally a period of 12 months commencing on 1
April. The end of the accounting period is the balance sheet date.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by an organisation that specify how the effects
of transactions and other events are to be reflected in its financial statements.

ACCOUNTS

A generic term for statements setting out details of income and expenditure or assets and liabilities or both,
in a structured manner. Accounts may be categorised either by the type of transactions they record, e.g.,
revenue account, capital account or by the purpose they serve, e.g., management accounts, final accounts,
balance sheets.

ACCRUAL
Sums included in the final accounts to cover income or expenditure attributable to the accounting period but
for which payment has not been made/received at the balance sheet date.

ACTUAL
Actual, as opposed to budget, expenditure and income directly attributable to an accounting period.

ACTUARIAL BASIS
The estimation technique applied when estimating the liabilities to be recognised for defined benefit pension
schemes in the financial statements of an organisation.

AMORTISATION
The depreciation of intangible assets

AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS
An audit is an examination by an independent expert of an organisation’s financial affairs to check that the
relevant legal obligations and codes of practice have been followed.

BALANCES

Working balances are reserves needed to finance expenditure in advance of income from debtors, precepts
and grants. Any excess may be applied, at the discretion of the Council, to reduce future demands on the
Collection Fund or to meet unexpected costs during the year. Balances on holding accounts and provisions
are available to meet expenditure in future years without having adverse effect on revenue expenditure.

BILLING AUTHORITY
The authority that sets council tax and collects it from council taxpayers.

BUDGET
A financial plan that expresses an organisation’s service delivery plans and capital programmes in monetary
terms.
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BUDGET STRATEGY

A document setting out how an organisation is going to meet its policies and priorities, taking into account
the resources available to the organisation. This will include proposals for efficiency savings and possible
service changes or reductions, which may free up resources for use on other policies or priorities.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
This is expenditure on items providing benefits to the organisation over more than one year, such as land,
buildings or vehicles.

CAPITAL FINANCING

This describes the various sources of finance used to pay for capital expenditure. There are various options
available and used by the Council: capital receipts, capital grants, capital contributions and revenue
financing.

CAPITAL GRANTS
Grants received towards capital expenditure on a specific service or project.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME
This is a financial plan of the capital expenditure projects that the organisation intends to carry out over a
specified time period.

CAPITAL RECEIPT

This is income resulting from the sale of assets such as land or property. The Government decides what
proportion of each capital receipt can be used by the Council to finance new capital expenditure. Capital
receipts cannot be used to fund revenue expenditure.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash in hand plus deposits in banks or building societies, repayable on demand or within 24 hours, and
deposits maturing within 3 months of the date taken out.

CIPFA

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. This is the professional body for accountants
working in local government and other public bodies. The Institute provides financial and statistical
information services for local government and advises central Government and other bodies on local
government and public finance matters.

COLLECTION FUND

This is a statutory fund kept separate from the main accounts of the Council. It records all income due from
Council Tax and National Non-Domestic Rates and shows how that income was shared between central
government, the County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner.

CONSISTENCY
One of the fundamental accounting concepts, it requires accountants to treat similar items of income and
expenditure in the same way both within an accounting period and from one accounting period to the next.

CONTINGENT ASSET

An asset which exists at the balance sheet date where the outcome will be confirmed only on the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events, for example a claim for compensation that a
Council is pursuing through the due legal process, where the outcome will only be decided by the decision
of the courts.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

A liability which exists at the balance sheet date where the outcome will be confirmed only on the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events, for example, the default by a borrower on a loan
from a third party for which the Council has given a guarantee.
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COUNCIL TAX

A local tax levied on dwellings within the local authority area. The level of taxation is based on the capital
value of the property, which is categorised into one of eight bands from A to H, and the number of people
living in the dwelling.

CREDITOR
Amounts owed by the Council for work done, goods received or services rendered within the accounting
period, but for which payment was not made at the balance sheet date.

CURRENT ASSETS
Assets which can be expected to be consumed or realised during the next accounting period.

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Amounts which will become due or could be called upon during the next accounting period.

DEBTOR
An amount due to an organisation within the accounting period not received at the balance sheet date.

DEPRECIATION
A charge made to the revenue account each year that reflects the reduction in value of assets used to deliver
services. This is the loss in value of an asset, owing to age, wear and tear, deterioration, or obsolescence.

EMPLOYEE COSTS
These include salaries, wages and employers’ national insurance and pension contributions, together with
training expenses and charges relating to the index-linking of pensions of former employees.

ESTIMATE
Original estimate: the estimate for the new year approved before the start of the financial year, usually at
the previous November’s price levels.

Revised estimate: the original estimate for the year updated by price changes since it was prepared and
by supplementary estimates and virements.

FINAL ACCOUNTS

Accounts prepared for an accounting period, usually in a summarised form. They include a statement
showing the net surplus (profit) or deficit (loss) on the provision of services and a balance sheet. They are
produced as a record of stewardship for interested parties. Local authorities are required by the Accounts
and Audit Regulations 2015 to publish a Statement of Accounts at the end of each financial year.

FINANCE LEASE
A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a non-current asset to the
lessee (the person or organisation leasing the asset).

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Grants made by the Government towards either revenue or capital expenditure to help with the cost of
providing services and capital projects. Some Government grants have restrictions on how they may be
used, whilst others are general purpose.

IMPAIRMENT

Impairment of an asset is caused by a consumption of economic benefits (e.g., physical damage such as an
office fire) or a deterioration in the quality of service provided by the asset (e.g., an industrial unit closing and
becoming a storage facility), or by a general fall in prices of that particular asset or class of assets.

INTEREST
An amount received or paid for the use of a sum of money when it is invested or borrowed.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
Provide the required accounting treatment and disclosure of transactions so that an organisation’s financial
statements present fairly the financial position of the organisation.

INVENTORIES
Items of raw materials and stores that the Council has bought to use on a continuing basis but has not yet
used.

MATERIALITY

One of the main accounting concepts, it ensures that the statement of accounts includes all the transactions
that, if omitted, would lead to a significant distortion of the financial position at the end of the accounting
period.

NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES

An NNDR rate (multiplier) is set annually by central government and is applied to the rateable value of a
business to calculate the non-domestic rates collected by Billing Authorities. The rates collected are shared
between central government, district and county councils in statutory proportions.

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Assets which can be expected to be of use or benefit to the Council for more than one accounting period.

OPERATING LEASE
A lease under which the ownership of the asset remains with the lessor (the person or organisation leasing
the asset) and is equivalent to contract hiring.

PRECEPT
The levy made by a precepting authority (County Council, Police Authority, Parish Council) on the billing
authority, requiring it to collect income from Council Taxpayers on their behalf.

PROVISION
A sum of money set aside in the accounts for liabilities or losses that are due but where the amount due or
the timing of the payment is not know with certainty.

REVENUE EXPENDITURE
Expenditure on the day to day running costs of the Council such as wages and salaries, utility costs, repairs
and maintenance.

REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE (REFCUS)
Expenditure which can by law be financed from capital resources (e.g., capital receipts) but which does not
result in a non-current asset for the authority e.g., renovation grants.

REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT
A general grant paid by central Government to local authorities to provide the services that it is responsible
for delivering.

TEMPORARY BORROWING
A sum of money borrowed for a period of less than one year.

VALUE FOR MONEY

An expression describing the benefit obtained (not just in financial terms) for a given input of money. The
phrase is widely used within public bodies, but there are many difficulties in its use because value is a
subjective measure and there are rarely supporting objective measures. The Council’s external auditor is
required to consider value for money with the three objectives of economy of input, efficiency of operation
and effectiveness of output in service provision.
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2024 - 2025

l. SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY

Forest of Dean District Council is responsible for ensuring that:

Its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards;

Public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for;

Public money is used economically, efficiently and effectively; and

There is a sound system of governance, incorporating the system of internal control.

The Council has a Best Value duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of
economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

In discharging these responsibilities, the Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for
the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, and including arrangements
for the management of risk.

The Council has developed and approved a code of corporate governance, which is consistent with the
core principles and sub-principles as set out in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
(CIPFA)/Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE) “Delivering Good
Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)” (‘the Framework’).

This statement explains how the Council has complied with the code and meets the requirements of
Regulation 6(1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (England) which requires the Council to
conduct a review at least once a year on the effectiveness of its system of internal control and include a
statement reporting on the review with any published Statement of Accounts.

In addition to this, CIPFA issued its “Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer in Local
Government (2015)”. The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) reflects compliance with this statement
for reporting purposes.

2. THE PURPOSE OF THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which the
Council is directed and controlled, including activities through which it accounts to, engages with, and leads
its communities. It enables the Council to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to
consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services.

The system of internal control is a significant part of the governance framework and is designed to manage
risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal
control is based on an on-going process designed to:

Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Council’s policies, aims and objectives;
Evaluate the likelihood of those risks occurring;

Assess the impact should those risks occur; and

Manage the risks efficiently, effectively and economically.

The governance framework has been in place at Forest of Dean District Council for the year ended 31*

March 2025 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Statement of Accounts.
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The Annual Governance Statement illustrates how the Council’s governance arrangements have continued
to be adapted during 2024/2025.

3. THE GOVERNANCE ENVIRONMENT

The key elements of the Council’s governance arrangements are outlined in the Local Code of Corporate
Governance. The governance framework includes arrangements for:

e |dentifying and communicating the Council’s vision of its purpose and intended outcomes for
citizens and service users; through the publication of its updated Council Plan in December 2023.

e Reviewing the Council’s vision and its implications for the Council’s governance arrangements;

e Measuring the quality of services for users, ensuing that they are delivered in accordance with the
Council’s objectives and ensuring that they represent the best use of resources;

e Defining and documenting the roles and responsibilities of the executive (Cabinet), non-executive,
scrutiny and officer functions, with clear delegation arrangements and protocols for effective
communication;

e Developing, communicating and embedding codes of conduct, defining the standards of behaviour
for members and staff;

e Reviewing and updating Financial Rules, Contract Rules, Constitution, Scheme of Delegation and
supporting procedure notes / manuals, which clearly define how decisions are taken, and the
processes and controls required to manage risks;

e Ensuring effective counter-fraud and anti-corruption arrangements are developed and maintained;

e Ensuring the Council’s financial management arrangements conform with the governance
requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local
Government (2015);

e Undertaking the core functions of an Audit Committee, as identified in CIPFA’s Audit Committees:
Practical Guidance for Local Authorities;

e Ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal policies and procedures, and that
expenditure is lawful;

e Whistleblowing and for receiving and investigating complaints;

e |dentifying the development needs of members and senior officers in relation to their strategic
roles, supported by the appropriate training;

e Establishing clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and other
stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging open consultation; and

e Incorporating good governance arrangements in respect of partnerships, including shared services
and other joint working and reflecting these in the Council’s overall governance arrangements.

The main areas of the Council’s governance framework, and the key evidence of delivery, are set out
below, under the headings of the core principles and sub-principles from the CIPFA/SOLACE ‘Delivering
Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)’.
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A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and
respecting the rule of law

e Behaving with Integrity

e Demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values

e Respecting the rule of the law

e The roles and responsibilities of Members, and all office holders are set out in the Council’s
Constitution, which was recently updated following a constitutional review and formally approved by
Full Council in March 2025. The Constitution is supported and underpinned by a separate Code of
Conduct for Members and a joint Member / Officer Protocol, which sets out guidelines as to behaviour
and practical issues. This is further supported by the Council’s Business Conduct policy which set out
guidelines for staff on behavioural issues and was updated in October 2023.

e Declarations of Interest are made at meetings by Members and Officers, where appropriate, and are
recorded in the minutes of the meeting. The Members’ Code of Conduct requires Members to make
declarations of interest, when necessary, these are also recorded.

e Registers of interest are completed annually by Members and published on the Council’s website. A
register of gifts and hospitality received by Members is maintained by the Monitoring Officer and is
available for public inspection at the Council offices.

e An employee declaration is completed annually by all staff. A register of gifts and hospitality is
maintained by the Corporate Responsibility team and reviewed by the Governance Group every
quarter.

e There is a member development programme and member development group who meet monthly to
review and plan member training on a wide variety of subjects. This is supported by the Democratic
Services team and the Monitoring Officer who is officer responsible for member development.

e Training is compulsory for regulatory committees, that is, Development Management Committee and
Licensing.

e There are safeguards in the constitution for handling planning and licensing applications from members
and officers.

e The Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer report directly to the Chief Executive and are
members of the Executive Leadership Team. They also form part of the recently formed Statutory
Officer Group which will meet on a quarterly basis together with key stakeholder lead officers from
Counter Fraud (CFEU) and Internal Audit (SWAP).

e Internal audit reviews are designed to ensure services are complying with internal and external policies
and procedures / statutory legislation. Where non-compliance is identified, this is reported to
Management and to Members via the Council’s Audit Committee.

e The Whistleblowing Policy was last updated in March 2025 and was ratified by Full Council in March
2025. A counter-fraud unit working across Gloucestershire and West Oxfordshire helps prevent and
detect fraud and corrupt practices, including misuse of power. The service reports to the Audit
Committee and the Publica Board’s Audit and Risk Assurance Committee twice a year.

e Minutes of Council, Cabinet and Committee meetings are taken, with decisions and key actions
recorded appropriately and published on the Council’s website. The Council continues to publish a
Cabinet Forward Plan, highlighting key decisions, in line with legislation.

e The Council has continued providing regular updates to Members and across the organisation, making
use of video conferencing to increase accessibility, as well as using group emails. Members are also
being encouraged to make better use of the Council’s online portal (intranet).

o The Communications team ensures that communications through all our various channels supports the
council’s services through providing advice, information and messaging to both external and internal
audiences.
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B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement

e Openness
e Engaging comprehensively with institutional stakeholders
e Engaging with individual citizens and service users effectively

Annual accounts are published in a timely manner to help communicate the Council’s financial position
and performance.

A Council Plan 2024-2028, approved by Full Council on the 14 December 2023, is available to the
public on the Council’s website - https://www.fdean.gov.uk/media/5cvhr4dn/forest-of-dean-district-
council-plan-2024-to-2028-v2.pdf

All Committee, Cabinet and Council reports clearly outline their purpose, so any resident reading the
report can understand what is trying to be achieved. Reports also address financial, legal, equalities, and
risk implications, along with those for the climate change, biodiversity and ecological emergencies, to
aid understanding of the potential impact of their recommendations.

A visual impact assessment tool has been developed to support good decision making, clearly mapping
out social, economic and environmental impacts and using a red, amber, green traffic light status. The
roles and responsibilities of the executive (Cabinet), non-executive, scrutiny and officer functions are
defined in the Council’s Constitution.

A Scheme of Delegation of powers to officers is included within the Constitution.

Communication channels with staff include one-to-one and team meetings, a quarterly briefing from the
Chief Executive, a weekly update email from Publica Directors (Keeping you Connected) and an online
portal. In addition, regular staff webinars are held covering a wide range of topics and allow for Q&A
session.

An Executive Leadership Team, comprising the Chief Executive, Director of Finance and Resources

(the S151 Officer), Head of Governance (the Monitoring Officer) and Director of Communities and
Place, meets weekly to discuss and action a variety of management issues including projects, Cabinet
forward plan, budget, strategic risk, health and safety, and corporate governance.

A customer feedback form is available publicly for handling comments, complaints and compliments and
the Council’s website includes different ways for customers to give feedback or access services. A
customer satisfaction survey is carried out throughout the year on the telephone, email and web
services provided, with the Council receiving very high satisfaction scores for telephone contact.

Ensuring clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and other stakeholders
and ward members providing a local point of contact for the district’s residents.

The ability for members of the public to ask questions at Cabinet meetings, Overview and Scrutiny
Committee meetings and meetings of the Full Council.

Emergency powers contained within the Council’s Constitution provide the necessary authority to
allow decisions to be made by the Chief Executive and/or the Section 151 Officer in consultation with
the Council Leader, with a report being made to the next available meeting.

Quarterly reports to Cabinet outlining financial and service performance, along with progress in
achieving the Council’s priorities and objectives. The performance report is scrutinised by the
Overview and Scrutiny committee and published on the Council’s website.

The Council publishes transparency data on its website which includes supplier payments, senior
management structure charts and the Annual Pay Policy Statement. Where data is not available in the
published data sets, instructions are available on how to make a Freedom of Information request and
the procedure that will be followed to answer the request.

The Council is accountable to the Information Commissioner’s Office.
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e Council, Cabinet and committee meetings are webcast live and the recordings are available to view on
the Council’s website.

C. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits
e Defining outcomes
e Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits

e The Council’s priorities, expressed in its Council Plan 2024 - 2028, set out what the Council hopes to
achieve on its own or in partnership with others. These priorities are supported by the Code of
Corporate Governance as good governance should underpin all the work of the Council.

e An annual business planning process is also conducted by our shared services provided through Publica
and Ubico. Their plans are guided and informed by our Council Plan priorities, legislation and
government guidance.

e All three Council Plan priorities and the way we work as a team are underpinned by the following
principles:

o Social value: to improve the well-being of our residents

o Public engagement: to ensure all voices are heard and form part of the decision-making process

o Value for money: to ensure our resources are used as responsibly and efficiently as possible.

o Financial Sustainability: to support climate and nature emergency initiatives without compromising
the Council’s fiscal health

e Detailed proposals arising from the Council’s priorities are individually assessed and are included within
decision making reports.

e The financial implications of delivering against the Council’s priorities are included within the Council’s
Medium Term Financial Strategy, revenue budgets and capital programme. These key financial
documents are updated annually in advance of the forthcoming financial year.

e The Council recognises that several external factors have had a significant impact and will continue to
have a long-term effect on the level of resources available to the Council. As part of its Medium-Term
Financial Strategy (MTFS) the Council will continue to assess its medium-term financial position and
update its assumptions about the resources available to, and the investment needs of, the Council
considering these challenges.

e An Ethical Investment Policy was approved by the Council in December 2023, which aims to give
environmental, social and governance considerations an equal footing as security, liquidity and yield. It
details exclusions for future investment, along with areas the Council will look to invest in, such as
renewable energy, social and low carbon housing.

D. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended
outcomes

e Determining interventions

e Planning interventions

e Optimising achievement of intended outcomes

e 1In 2017 the Council, along with three other councils, created a company, Publica Group (Support) Ltd,
to deliver more efficient and improved shared services.

e During 2023-24 the Shareholder Councils jointly commissioned a robust review of future options to
make sure the solutions needed for the council to achieve financial stability can be achieved, given the
shortfall identified in the MTFS shortfall over the years ahead. The review examined the priorities for
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service delivery, options for reduction or transformation and how the Publica model fits into this. It
concluded that most services should be insourced back to the Council, with a smaller Publica
responsible for shared services such as ICT, transactional finance, procurement, transactional HR and
payroll, revenues and benefits. This project has been successfully progressed with phase 2 of insourcing
planned for the |* of July 2025.

e Future phases of insourcing or indeed continued shared service provision will be designed to
complement the requirements of Local Government Reorganization as set out in the Government’s
White Paper of December 2024.

e The Council continues to pursue and secure savings through improved use of its assets and investments.

e The Council has processes in place to identify and respond to external changes, for example: changes to
legislation and regulation, emerging risks and opportunities. Corporate processes such as risk
management, performance management processes, budget monitoring and other management processes
are designed to capture and incorporate these external factors and to enable the Council to respond
appropriately.

e The Council’s strategic risk register is reviewed quarterly, as a minimum, by the Executive Leadership
Team and reported to the Audit Committee.

e Projects and services retain their own risk registers and elevate any high/red risks to the Executive
Leadership Team and Publica as appropriate for consideration. A Risk Group reviews risk registers each
quarter, escalating any emerging risks to the strategic register.

e Key performance indicators are identified and reported quarterly. An enhanced performance
management framework, using ‘real time’ data wherever possible is currently being developed and will
be trialled for quarter one of 2024-25.

e Budgets are prepared annually in accordance with objectives, strategies and the Medium-Term Financial
Strategy, following consultation with customers, stakeholders and officers.

e The Medium-Term Financial Strategy is a live document and can be reviewed, updated and reported as
necessary, to respond to the changing financial environment. This is due to uncertainty around the
future funding of the Council and the necessity to ensure savings plans and targets are in place and
continue to be deliverable without impacting the core services of the Council.

e As we move forward, we will assess how external factors such as the cost-of-living crisis has impacted
our strategic priorities. We will need to understand and manage a variety of impacts, including financial,
service delivery, and health and wellbeing.

e The Council will continue to work with residents and local businesses to review and respond to their
changing needs and to help them protect themselves and others, as well as recover from the health and
economic costs arising from the cost-of-living crisis.

E. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals
within it

e Developing the entity’s capacity

e Developing the capability of the entity’s leadership and other individuals

e One of the original reasons behind the creation of Publica was to increase service delivery capacity
across the four partner councils by sharing common processes and procedures and eliminating (as far as
possible) single points of failure. By working in partnership, the Councils can share the cost of
commissioning bespoke and specialist advice. As part of the review cited at the second bullet point in
section D above, the Council considered how the Publica governance model and Executive
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arrangements support the Council’s retained officers’ capacity to lead the council and develop ideas,
strategies and political engagement. A revised senior management structure has now been implemented
as services transition back from Publica to the Council.

e There is a Scheme of Delegation at Member level covering the Council, Cabinet, individual Cabinet
Members and other committees. Similarly, there is a scheme of delegation for officer decisions at
Executive, Non-Executive and Regulatory meetings. These are reviewed and revised as structures
change.

e Financial rules and contract procedures are in place and are reviewed and revised as required.
® Induction programmes are available to new employees and Members.

® A Member Development Group meets regularly and receives feedback on gaps in councillor knowledge.
The group seeks to fill those gaps with relevant training and learning sessions.

e Members on certain committees (e.g. Planning and Licensing) are required to undertake training before
serving on these committees, and to attend further training to remain up to date and improve their
knowledge.

e Training is also provided for officers on an on-going basis as appropriate and necessary.

The Chief Executive, Section 151 officer, Monitoring Officer and the Leader of the Council have clear
responsibilities. Roles and responsibilities are contained within the Constitution along with the
Member/Officer Protocol.

F. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial
management

e Managing risk

e Managing performance

e Robust internal control

e Managing data

e Strong public financial management

e A Statutory Officer Group is in place to complete quarterly reviews of risk registers, escalating any
emerging risks to a strategic level. The Strategic Risk Register is reported to the Audit Committee on a
regular basis.

e Risks are identified when undertaking Internal Audit reviews and reported when necessary.

e Performance Management measures the quality of service for users to ensure services are delivered in
accordance with the Council’s objectives and represent best use of resources. An enhanced
performance management framework is being developed to provide a more complete picture of
organisational performance and focuses on five areas — risk and opportunity management; business
information and service assurance; project and programme management assurance; Council Plan
delivery; and place-based measures.

® Performance is measured on a regular basis and reported to Members and Cabinet. Wherever possible
‘real time’ data will be published.

e Meeting minutes are published and highlight the challenge made by Members to Officers and Cabinet
Members.

e The Internal Audit service is provided by SWAP (South West Audit Partnership) Internal Audit Services
and is run in partnership with other local authorities.
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A risk-based Audit Plan is drafted annually following consultation with Officers, Members and the SI51
Officer. The Audit Plan is approved at the Audit Committee prior to the financial year.

Audit reports, once completed, are discussed with the service manager. Executive summaries, including
findings, and progress on the Annual Plan are reported to the Audit Committee, on a quarterly basis.

Recommendations made in audit reports are followed up 6 months after the completion of the audit
and priority | and 2 findings are reported to the Audit Committee, along with any findings not
addressed in a timely manner.

The Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference are contained within the Constitution. Members have
experience of a scrutiny role and training is provided when appropriate.

Where investigations identify improvements to the internal control framework, the Counter Fraud Unit
will liaise with the Internal Audit team to ensure the improvements are followed up and implemented by
management.

The Council has invested in its cyber security capability to increase its resilience against a cyber-attack,
by implementing additional security solutions, recruiting additional staff and resourcing an ongoing
training programme to maintain the impact of this investment.

An ICT Audit and Compliance Manager has a Data Protection Officer with responsibility for Data
Protection policies, Privacy Statements and ensuring that officers and members are informed and
appropriately trained.

The Council is part of the Gloucestershire Information Sharing Partnership. This enables data to be
shared between councils and other key public bodies when necessary.

Audit reviews ensure data is held securely whether electronically or hard copy.

The MTFS is reviewed and updated on a regular basis to ensure the Section |51 Officer, Chief Executive
and Members are aware of the financial standing of the Council.

G. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective
accountability

e Implementing good practice in transparency
e Implementing good practices in reporting
e Assurance and effective accountability

Data in respect of transparency is published on the Council’s website and was audited during 2024-25.

The Council’s Statement of Accounts is produced and published annually in accordance with statutory
legislation. Aligned with this is the production of the Annual Governance Statement which identifies
how the Council has met its governance reporting obligations

External Audit recommendations are reported to Audit Committee, following the completion of their
annual audit process, follow-ups of recommendations are also reported

Internal Audit processes ensure compliance with Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards. Internal
Audit recommendations are followed-up and reported to the Audit Committee, further follow-up is
planned if recommendations have not been actioned in full.

4.

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

The Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its

governance framework including the system of internal control. The review of effectiveness is informed by
the work of the senior managers, the annual opinion from the Internal Audit’s Assistant Director, the
Statutory Officer Group Group and comments made by the external auditors, other review agencies and
inspectorates.
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The Council’s process for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance
framework has included the following:

All officers are required to complete an Annual Assurance Statement at the end of the financial
year. These governance declarations provide appropriate management assurance that key elements
of the system of internal control are in place and are working effectively and help to identify areas
for improvement.

The Statutory Officer Group reviews the Strategic Risk Register on a quarterly basis and
Service/Project Risk Registers are maintained by each service. In addition, project highlight and
exception reports are reviewed by the Executive Leadership Team monthly.

The Statutory Officer group meets quarterly to discuss and action matters such as staff declarations
of interests, gifts and hospitality, audit recommendations, cyber security and GDPR
updates/breaches register and counter fraud updates. Attendees include the CEO, SI51 and
Monitoring Officer, as well as relevant Officers such as the DPO, SWAP and Counter Fraud.

The SWAP Assistant Director provides the Audit Committee, as the Committee charged with
governance, with an Annual Opinion on the control environment of the Council, which includes its
governance arrangements.

Investigation of, and decisions on, allegations of failure to comply with the Members’ Code of
Conduct are considered and determined by the Monitoring Officer and/or an Independent
Standards Panel.

Induction processes are carried out for newly elected Members and appointed officers.

The Section |51 Officer ensures training and awareness sessions are carried out for the Audit
Committee periodically.

The External Auditors (Bishop Fleming) present progress reports to the Audit Committee and the
External Auditor’s Annual Report and follow-up of management responses to issues raised in the
Letter or other reports are overseen by the Audit Committee.

Quarterly financial and performance reports are presented to the Cabinet, demonstrating
performance management against agreed performance indicators and budgets.

Members of the Audit Committee were invited to comment on the AGS prior to the Cabinet
signing off the document.

The Audit Committee reviews the Annual Statement of Accounts, including the final AGS, the
Treasury Management Strategy and quarterly progress reports from both Internal Audit (SVWWAP)
and External Audit (Bishop Fleming).

Full Council approves the annual budget and reviews and approves the Treasury Management
Strategy, following recommendations from the Audit Committee.

Internal Audit monitors the quality and effectiveness of systems of internal control. Audit reports
include an opinion that provides management with an independent judgement on the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls. Reports including recommendations for improvement are detailed
in an action plan agreed with the relevant Business Manager or Assistant Director.

FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL 104



STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25

e The Annual Internal Audit Opinion for 2024/2025, in respect of the areas reviewed during the year,
was Reasonable.

e The Council’s Financial Rules and Contract Rules are kept under review and revised periodically;
the most recent update was approved by Council in March 2025.

e Other explicit review/assurance mechanisms, such as the Annual Report from the Local

Government Ombudsman and reports from SWAP or Bishop Fleming are also reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

Signed on behalf of Forest of Dean District Council:

Councillor Adrian Birch Nigel Brinn
Leader of the Council Chief Executive
Date: Date:
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REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE ACTION PLAN FOR 2024 - 2025

When preparing its 2024/2025 Statement, the Council identified several areas which required focus and attention. These have been actively monitored
throughout the year and progress by the end of March 2025 is detailed in the table below:

Key Area of Focus

Planned Actions

Update

Asset Management and
Property Services

Approve a refreshed Asset Management Strategy and
ensure the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
standards and guidance is followed to make sure all
legislative, compliance and best practice
requirements are met

Produce an Asset Management Plan and ensure all
Council owned properties have a site-specific risk
assessment, which is held centrally

Strategy now approved by Cabinet. Asset
Management Plan ongoing.

Property team will be returned to the
Council with effect from 01/07/25.

Freedom of Information

Improve response times to Freedom of Information
requests to ensure compliance with the relevant Act
Publish a greater range of information to reduce the
need to respond to regularly made Freedom of
Information requests

Performance has increased to over 90%.
The team have reviewed processes and are
looking at a number of changes to further
improve response times.

Local Government Association
(LGA) Corporate Peer
Challenge

Conduct a LGA Corporate Peer Challenge to ensure
we get external challenge as part of the annual
review of effectiveness

Produce and implement an action plan in response to
the Corporate Peer Challenge findings and
recommendations

A peer review was completed in October.
An action plan has been prepared and
published. An updated delivery plan and
review process is being further developed
to progress recommendations from the
peer review.

New service delivery models

Conclude the review of future service delivery
options to make sure the solutions needed for the
council to achieve financial stability can be achieved,
given the MTFS shortfall over the years ahead
Insource services back from Publica and examine the
priorities for a new service delivery model
Implement options for efficiency and transformation
Where considered appropriate, explore
opportunities for sharing or devolving to town and
parish councils, or the voluntary and community
sector

The first tranche of services were
successfully transferred on | November
2024.

Work is underway on phase 2 with
structures being developed and costed.
Aiming for transition plan to be presented
to Cabinet in March 2025.

Phase 2 also being reviewed in light of
devolution.
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Medium Term Financial
Strategy

Update the Medium-Term Financial Strategy to
reflect the budget requirements of the new service
delivery model and ensure the risks presented by the
very real financial challenges ahead are mitigated as
far as possible

Continue to align the MTFS to the new Council Plan
2024 — 2028 and its associated delivery plan

Update completed and presented to
Cabinet in November 2024.
Budget strategy approved for 2025/26.

Council Constitution

Undertake a full review of the Council’s Constitution
and Scheme of Delegation to reflect the new service
delivery model

The Council constitution was reviewed
and updated following the transfer of
services on |/11/24.

Emergency Planning and
Business Continuity

Ensure the Council has resilience and can respond
effectively in the event of a significant local incident
under the new service delivery model

Further develop business continuity plans to ensure
they are robust and fit for purpose under the new
service delivery model

To test the business-critical Business Continuity
Plans in 2024-25

Business Continuity plans for services
which have transferred have been
distributed to services for review.

Work is being undertaken to establish any
further development for BCP.

Risk Management

To review the Risk Management Policy
To complete a risk maturity self-assessment

A new risk policy will be drafted later on
this financial year and monitored by the
Statutory Officer Group.
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6. GOVERNANCE ACTION PLAN FOR 2025 - 2026
In preparing this statement and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance arrangements several areas have been identified where the Council needs to
focus attention and improve arrangements over the next financial year. These areas of work are planned to strengthen the control framework and are set out

in the table below.

To be finalised following feedback from Cabinet, Audit Committee, ELT and the Statutory Officers Group

Initial suggested - Key Planned Actions
Areas of Focus
| Local Government e FoDDC staff will support the various LGR workstreams
Reorganization e We will seek to ensure the protection of the interests of the FoDDC
e We will seek to ensure that our teckal and partner organisations are prepared / ready in advance of LGR
e To place our staff in the best position possible, through training, development and support
2 New service delivery models e To complete the phase 2 transition of services from Publica
e To ensure new services are embedded into the FODDC culture
3 Council Constitution e Undertake an update to the Council’s Constitution and Scheme of Delegation to reflect the new service
delivery model following phase 2 transfer of services
4 Business Continuity e Further develop business continuity plans to ensure they are robust and fit for purpose under the new
service delivery model
e To test the business-critical Business Continuity Plans
5 Procurement e To ensure officers are trained and competent in the new Procurement Act 2023 and revised Contract
Procedure Rules
e To develop a toolkit for use by officers who undertake procurement
6 Service Plans e To have service plans in place for all business areas, delivered directly by the council and its partners
7 MTFS e Ensure the financial stability of the Council prior to LGR
8 Council Plan Delivery Plan e Deliver on the actions contained with the Council Plan and identified in the agreed Delivery Plan
9 Statutory Officer Group e Formally establish and embed the work of the Statutory Officer Group in ensuring corporate governance
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Initial suggested - Key
Areas of Focus

Planned Actions

10

Key project Governance

e Ensure resources are in place to put good governance around the Council’s major projects

Internal Audit

e Ensure all agreed actions are completed and that any issues identified are appropriately followed up
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion on financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of Forest of Dean District Council (the ‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2025, which comprise
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Cash Flow Statement,
the Collection Fund — Income and Expenditure Account, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policy
information. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2024-25.

In our opinion the financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2025 and of the Authority’s expenditure and income for the
year then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom 2024-25; and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law, as required by the Code of
Audit Practice (2024) (“the Code of Audit Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report.

We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the
UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

The Chief Finance Officer has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they have not been informed by the relevant
government body of the intention to dissolve the Authority without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. They have also
concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least
a year from the date of approval of the financial statements.
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In auditing the financial statements and having regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of financial statements and regularity of
public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2024) on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities, we have
concluded that the Chief Finance Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor’'s
report thereon. The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in November 2024 on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the
Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with ‘Delivering Good
Governance in Local Government Framework 2016 Edition’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE, or is misleading or inconsistent with the
information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks
and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements, the other information published together with
the financial statements in the Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:

e we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the
conclusion of the audit; or

e we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at
the conclusion of the audit; or

e we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or;

e we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the
audit; or

e we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, in the course of, or at the
conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Responsibilities of the Authority and the Chief Finance Officer

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its
financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the
Chief Finance Officer. The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial
statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom 2024-25, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Chief Finance Officer determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Finance Officer is responsible for assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by
the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the Authority without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities,
outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud.

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

e We have considered the nature of the sector, control environment and financial performance;

e We have considered the results of enquiries with management, internal audit and the Audit Committee in relation to their own identification
and assessment of the risk of irregularities within the entity, and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations or whether they had any knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

e We have reviewed the documentation of key processes and controls and performed walkthroughs of transactions to confirm that the systems
are operating in line with documentation;

e Any matters identified having obtained and reviewed the Authority’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:

o ldentifying, evaluation and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
o Detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
o The internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

e We have considered the matters discussed among the audit engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial

statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK) we are required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We have also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the Authority operates in, focusing on provisions of those
laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws
and regulations we considered in this context are those related to the reporting frameworks (the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2024-25, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (as
amended by the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2024), the Local Government Act 2003, Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as
amended by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and the Local Government Finance Act 2012)).
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In addition, we considered the provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance
with which may be fundamental to the Authority’s ability to operate or avoid a material penalty. These include data protection regulations, health

and safety regulations, employment legislation, and money laundering legislation.

Our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

e Reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws

and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

e Performing analytical procedures to identify unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to
fraud;

e Reviewing Committee meeting minutes;

e Enquiring of management in relation to actual and potential claims or litigations;

e Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting estimates in respect of valuation of land and
buildings, valuations of investment property and defined benefit pensions liability valuations; and

e |In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other
adjustments; assessing whether the judgments made in accounting estimates are indicative of potential bias; and evaluating the business
rationale of significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all members of the engagement team and remained alert to
possible indicators of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

As a result of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that not all irregularities, including material misstatements in the financial
statements or non-compliance with regulation, will be detected by us, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance
with the ISAs (UK). The risk increases the further removed compliance with a law or regulation is from the events and transactions reflected in
the financial statements, given we will be less likely to be aware of it, or should the irregularity occur as a result of fraud rather than a one-off
error, as this may involve intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentation.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL 114


http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2024/25

Report on other legal and regulatory matters

Matter on which we are required to report by exception — the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the Authority
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2025.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.
Responsibilities of the Authority
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and
Auditor General in November 2024 and related statutory guidance. We considered whether the Authority has proper arrangements in place to
ensure financial sustainability, proper governance and the use of information about costs and performance to improve the way it manages and
delivers its services.

We document our understanding of the arrangements the Authority has in place for each of these three specified reporting criteria, gathering
sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment and commentary in our Auditor’'s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we consider
whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements —Delay in certification of completion of the audit

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for Forest of Dean District Council for the year ended 31 March 2025 in
accordance with the requirements of Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have confirmation from the
NAO that no additional work (beyond submission of the Assurance Statement) will be required in respect of the Whole of Government Accounts
exercise.

We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an

auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Authority and Authority’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Craig Sullivan, Key Audit Partner

for and on behalf of Bishop Fleming Audit Limited
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Plymouth

1 December 2025
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